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Braveheart Investment Group plc

("Braveheart", the "Company" or the "Group")
 

Final Results for the year ended 31 March 2025
 
Braveheart I nvestment Group plc (AI M: BR H) announces  i ts  audited annual  results  for the financial  year ended 31 March
2025, highl ights  of which are set out below:

 
·    Sharply reduced pre-tax loss  of £1.09 mi l l ion (2024: loss  of £8.19 mi l l ion)
·    Loss  per share of 1.71 pence per share (2024: 11.38 pence loss  per share).
·    Ki rkstal l  Limited expanded i ts  market reach by s igning distributor agreements  in China and South Korea, whi le

enhancing i ts  Quas i  Vivo® system for cutting-edge organ-on-a-chip research.
·    Paraytec Limited partnered with Analytik Limited for UK market distribution and developed a next-generation

two-colour instrument for broader biomedical  appl ications.
·    Gyrometric Systems Limited led a UK-US research project to innovate modular journal  bearings  for wind

turbines, fostering col laborations  with global  leaders  l ike Tufts  Univers i ty and Kingsbury Inc.
·    Our l i s ted investments  a l l  reported advancements .
·    Acquired a 29.51% stake in Imaging Biometrics  plc, which recently reported the launch of i ts  AI software and

prel iminary results  from a phase 1 cl inical  tria l .
·    Post year end fundraise of £295k before expenses.

 
Notice of AGM
A copy of the annual  report and accounts , together with noAce of the Company's  annual  general  meeAng ("AGM") to be held
on 1 August 2025 at 10.30 am at the office of China Ventures  Ltd, Unit 2, Common Farm, Common Lane, Mappleborough
Green, Warwickshire, B80 7D P, wi l l  be posted to shareholders  shortly and avai lable on the Company's
website, www.braveheartgroup.co.uk.
 
For further information:

Braveheart Investment Group plc Tel : 01738 587555
Trevor Brown, Chief Executive Officer
Viv Hal lam, Executive Director

Allenby Capital Limited (Nominated Adviser and Joint Broker) Tel : 020 3328 5656

James Reeve / Ashur Joseph

Peterhouse Capital Limited (Joint Broker) Tel : 020 7469 0936

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT

I  am pleased to report to shareholders  for the year ended 31 March 2025.
 

Strategic Investments Overview

Kirkstall Limited (Braveheart owns 86.11% of the company) https://kirkstall.com/ - Book value £Nil

K irkstal l  Limited is  at the leading edge of the emerging organ-on-a-chip (O O C) sector. K i rkstal l 's  technology al igns  with the
global  shiK toward New Approach Methodologies  (NAMs) that seek to replace animal  tesAng with human-relevant models .
O O C systems l ike K irkstal l 's  core product Q uas i  Vivo® enable scienAsts  to assess  toxicology, pharmacokineAcs  (drug
absorpAon and metabol ism), biocompaAbi l i ty and disease mechanisms us ing l iving human cel ls  without relying on
animal  models . I t i s  an opportune Ame for K irkstal l , as the US F DA ModernizaAon Act 2.0 (s igned December 2022) has
removed the animal-tesAng mandate and created a clear pathway for NAMs l ike O O C to be recognised by regulators . This
de-risks  adopAon of Q uas i  Vivo by pharma and medical  device companies , as  wel l  as address ing ethical  concerns. Costs
for tradiAonal  animal  tesAng currently exceed 3 bi l l ion annual ly and NAMs aim to drasAcal ly reduce this , as  wel l  as  the
costs  associated with late-stage fa i lures  due to poorly predicAve animal  models . The use of human cel ls  a lso promises  to
del iver more cl inical ly relevant ins ights  in precl inical  s tudies , supporAng faster and safer development of new drugs  and
therapies  and even opening the door for personal ized medicine approaches, where paAent-derived cel ls  could be tested in
the system to ta i lor treatments .

Quasi Vivo® Technology
Q uasi  Vivo is  a  patented system of interconnected cel l  culture chambers  des igned to mimic phys iological  condiAons in
vitro. Unl ike tradiAonal  staAc petri -dish cultures , Q uas i  Vivo conAnuously suppl ies  the cel ls  with nutrient media via  a
gentle flow, providing oxygen and shear stress  (mechanical  s tress  due to the flow) that keeps  cel ls  funcAoning more l ike
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gentle flow, providing oxygen and shear stress  (mechanical  s tress  due to the flow) that keeps  cel ls  funcAoning more l ike
they would in the body.
 
MulAple Assue types  can be l inked in the system, a l lowing researchers  to recreate complex Assue-Assue interfaces  within
a control led lab setup (for example, l iver cel ls  metabol izing a  drug and pass ing the byproducts  to kidney cel ls ). By
repl icaAng key aspects  of human phys iology - from circulatory flow to organ cross-talk - Q uas i  Vivo produces  data that are
more predicAve of human responses, which is  especial ly valuable for safety tesAng and efficacy screening of new
compounds.

Commercial Progress
K irkstal l  recently engaged Dr Diana Marcu, an experienced molecular biologist, who is  now leading the commercial
strategy of the QV1200. K irkstal l  i s  sharpening i ts  focus  on industry cl ients , parAcularly pharmaceuAcal  companies  and
contract research organizaAons (C RO s) that have high throughput tesAng needs. This  strategy is  a l ready yielding results :
Q uas i  Vivo systems have recently been ordered by a  leading developer of novel  R NA therapeuAcs  as  wel l  as  by companies
involved in food addiAve safety and cross-toxici ty tesAng. This  divers i ty in early commercial  tracAon - spanning cuNng-
edge therapeuAcs  to consumer product safety - highl ights  the broad relevance of K irkstal l 's  technology across  mulAple
sectors .
 
Geographical ly, K i rkstal l  has  made s ignificant strides , with new distributor agreements  s igned in As ia, targeAng two key
markets  with high growth potenAal . I n China, K irkstal l  entered an exclus ive partnership with Bei j ing K i lby Biotechnology
(BK B) to distribute Q uasi  Vivo and take advantage of China's  rapidly growing demand for advanced 3D cel l  culture systems.
Notably, l ike the F DA, Chinese regulators  are encouraging such technologies , with organ-on-chip plaOorms added to i ts
officia l  guidance for non-cl inical  drug testing (National  Insti tutes  for Food and Drug Control  in China, January 2024). A new
distributor was  a lso appointed in South Korea, extending Q uasi  Vivo's  reach into another innovaAve market with strong
biotechnology industries . Further international  expansion is  on the
horizon as  K irkstal l  evaluates  addiAonal  terri tories  in North America and Europe, where interest in O O C soluAons is  on the
rise.
 
Scientific Confirmation
To support scale-up and the commercial  s trategy of industry adopAon, the team has  iniAated an in-house study us ing
human l iver cel ls  (hepatocytes) in the QV1200 to invesAgate drug-induced stress  under highly real isAc condiAons.  Studies
indicate O O C has  about 85% accuracy in predicAng l iver toxici ty and is  s ignificantly bePer than animal  models . The study
wi l l  look to detect early markers  of stress  in mitochondria  (a  major cel l  component). I denAfying these subtle stress  s ignals
is  a  key safety metric that i s  oKen missed in staAc cultures  lacking flow. Confirming that Q uas i  Vivo can capture these
early-warning biomarkers  - without ki l l ing the cel ls  - would enable the adopAon of the QV1200 system into C RO  and
pharma safety screening pipel ines , enabl ing more sens itive toxici ty testing.
 
I n paral lel , several  col laboraAon projects  us ing Q uasi  Vivo are planned with UK  univers iAes, including a  "gut-on-chip"
model  to study intesAnal  disorders  under flow condiAons and another recreaAng key steps  of oral  cancer progress ion and
metastas is  in vi tro, combining mulAple cel l  types  to s imulate how tumours  invade and spread. These projects  a l low
K irkstal l  to generate publ ishable confirmaAon data in complex disease contexts , creaAng experts  in Q uas i  Vivo and
showing that i t can tackle sophisticated biology and produce ins ights  that conventional  models  cannot.

Looking ahead, K irkstal l  i s  on track to expand beyond i ts  academic user base into mainstream industry pipel ines. O veral l ,
with a  robust technology address ing a  press ing market need and strong tai lwinds  from regulatory and ethical  trends,
K irkstal l  i s  wel l  pos iAoned to del iver s ignificant value. The Board remains  confident that K irkstal l 's  recent gains  in
commercial  tracAon and i ts  pipel ine of R&D innovaAons wi l l  trans late into sustainable growth and shareholder value in
the coming year.
 
Paraytec Limited (Braveheart owns 100% per cent of the company) https://www.paraytec.com/ - Book
value £Nil

Technology
Paraytec develops  high performance special is t detectors  for the analyAcal  and l i fe sciences  instrumentaAon markets .
Paraytec's  core product, the C X 300 instrument, i s  a  portable flow cytometer capable of rapid detecAon of parAcles  from 10
nm to 20 µm in very smal l  l iquid sample quanti ties , with picomolar sens itivi ty levels .
 
Commercial Progress
Paraytec has  recently partnered with special is t scienAfic instrumentaAon distributor AnalyAk Limited to spearhead
markeAng, sales , and post-sales  support for i ts  instruments  in the UK  market. Leveraging i ts  strong presence across  UK
research laboratories , AnalyAk is  acAvely promoAng the C X 300 as  a  Portable F low Cytometer at key scienAfic conferences
and amongst i ts  exisAng contact base. An iniAal  strategic focus  is  the rapidly growing field of extracel lular ves icle (EV)
characterisaAon. EVs  are Any, l ipid-bound sacs  released by cel ls  into the surrounding environment, acAng as  intercel lular
communicaAon vehicles  in a  wide range of phys iological  processes , including immune responses  and Assue repair. EVs
have the potenAal  to be used in a  wide number of appl icaAons, including diagnosAcs, therapeuAcs  and regeneraAve
medicine.
 
Paraytec conAnues to develop i ts  the next-generaAon two-colour instrument, which wi l l  enable real -Ame comparison of
two populaAons of differently coloured parAcles . This  advancement opens access  to a  much larger market, with feedback
indicaAng potenAal  use in a  wide range of biomedical  and research appl icaAons. Paraytec has  produced a first batch of
instruments  and is  col laborating with univers i ty teams where testing is  ongoing.
Gyrometric Systems Limited (Braveheart owns 21.43% of the company) https://gyrometric.systems/ - Book value £27,323
 
Technology
Gyrometric Systems is  a  UK-based engineering company special is ing in digi ta l  monitoring technologies  for rotating
machinery. Its  patented systems provide high-resolution data on shaft rotation and al ignment, enabl ing the detection of
mechanical  wear or degradation in real  time. These capabi l i ties  are particularly valuable where conventional  vibration-
based monitoring is  ineffective-such as  in journal  bearings .
 
Commercial Progress
In i ts  establ ished marine drives  market, the company received further orders  from a cl ient who is  a  global  leader in
developing, producing and marketing innovative system solutions  for marine propuls ion systems. This  includes  highly
flexible coupl ings , shaft systems and elastic mounts . These orders , compris ing the commercial  rol lout of the Gyrometric
product with a  market leader, testi fy the qual i ty of the Gyrometric offering.
 
In the wind energy sector, main bearing fa i lure remains  a  leading cause of unplanned maintenance, especial ly in modern
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In the wind energy sector, main bearing fa i lure remains  a  leading cause of unplanned maintenance, especial ly in modern
direct-drive turbines  where other mechanical  systems have been s impl i fied. Replacing fa i led rol l ing-element bearings  often
requires  the complete disassembly of the turbine, a  process  that i s  especial ly expensive in offshore environments . As  an
alternative, journal  bearings  offer the potentia l  for lower maintenance costs . Unl ike rol l ing bearings , modular journal
bearings  can be serviced in place by replacing worn parts  without dismantl ing the turbine. This  approach could reduce
both downtime and the logistical  costs  of offshore repair work.
 
Gyrometric i s  currently leading the UK consortium in a  UK-US col laborative research project to develop thin-fi lm modular
journal  bearings  suitable for wind turbines, a long with measurement systems to monitor their condition in real  time during
operation. The company's  digi ta l  sens ing platform is  uniquely suited to journal  bearings , which do not produce the
characteristic vibrations  used in standard monitoring techniques. If journal  bearings  prove viable in this  context, they
could offer a  practical  a l ternative to current des igns-particularly for offshore appl ications  where maintenance access  is
chal lenging.
 
The project i s  supported by Innovate UK and the National  Offshore Wind Research and Development Consortium (NOWRDC)
in the United States . In the UK, Gyrometric i s  working alongs ide Leonardo Testing Systems (a  spin-out from Sheffield
Univers i ty) and the Offshore Renewable Energy Catapult (OREC). US partners  include Tufts  Univers i ty, Kingsbury Inc. (a
major bearing manufacturer), and a leading US wind turbine producer.

The project i s  sAl l  in the development phase, but early progress  is  encouraging. As  the technology is  val idated and
demonstrated, Gyrometric expects  to play a  key role in supporAng the adopAon of modular journal  bearings  in the wind
sector. The company's  measurement systems could be appl ied both in new turbine des igns  and in the refurbishment of
existing instal lations, opening opportunities  for long-term commercial  engagement in a  growing global  market.

 
Listed Investments

At 31 March 2025, Braveheart held investments  in the fol lowing UK l i s ted companies:

Autins Group plc (Braveheart owned 29.09%) https://autins .com/ - Book value £1,111,880
An industry-leading des igner, manufacturer, and suppl ier of acousAc and thermal  insulaAon soluAons for the automoAve
industry and other sectors . O n 29 Apri l  2025, the company provided a Trading Update, reporAng unaudited results  for the
18-month period ending 31 March 2025, showing group sales  of £31.1m and a net loss  of £1.7m.  W hi lst we maintain our
view on the potenAal  of AuAns, we bel ieve that there is  further scope for operaAonal  and financial  improvements .
Braveheart's  representaAve, Dr Q u Li , joined the AuAns board during this  financial  year and has  been working strenuously
to change the culture of i ts  board, del ivering cost savings  and growth in Earnings  per Share.
Adam APwood has  been Non-ExecuAve Chairman of AuAns Group plc s ince the company's  I P O  in 2016. O ver the years , as
other directors  have joined and leK the board, Adam has  in effect overseen the appointment of a l l  the directors  consAtuAng
the then board on each occas ion. The Q C A Corporate Governance Code (2023) stresses  that non-execuAve directors ,
including the chairman, must remain independent and that a  tenure of over nine years  (s ince August 2016) may undermine
independence due to entrenched relaAonships . Governance best pracAces  recommend refreshing board roles  to ensure
robust overs ight, to enhance effectiveness , and boost investor confidence. 
During the 9 years  of Adam APwood's  chairmanship, AuAns' share price has  fa l len from 165p and a market capital isaAon
of £30m at I P O  in August 2016, to i ts  current share price of approximately 10p and market capital isaAon of £5.5m. I n the
same period, addiAonal  funds  of £6.5m (£3.5m in 2019 and £3m in 2022)  have been raised from shareholders  and this
value has  a lso been largely lost during this  Ame. Faced with this  unenviable record of valuaAon destrucAon we have, a lbeit
reluctantly, formal ly asked Adam to res ign to help faci l i tate the urgently needed reinvigoraAon of the Company and to make
space for the development of fresh ideas  and thinking.
 
Built Cyberne:cs plc (previous ly AukeP Swanke Group plc) (Braveheart owned 5.61% of the company)
https://bui l tcybernetics .com/ - Book value £316,921
A profess ional  services  group that principal ly provides  architectural , interior des ign and smart bui lding services  in the
primary internaAonal  market sectors  of offices, res idenAal , educaAon, industria l , hospital i ty and mixed use or 'hybrid'
developments . I n i ts  Annual  Report to 30 September 2024, the company reported a 38% increase in turnover to £19.5m and
trading loss  of £536k.
 
Image Scan Group plc (Braveheart owned 10.14% of the company) https://ish.co.uk/ - Book value £242,754

A special is t suppl ier of real -time X-ray screening systems to the securi ty and industria l  inspection markets . This  company
recently launched new AI software to enhance threat recognition in i ts  X-ray scanning product and received a substantia l
contract for i ts  portable X-ray system for mi l i tary and counter-terrorism appl ications.

Imaging Biometrics L imited (previous ly I Q -AI  Limited) (Braveheart owned 29.35%) https://www.ibai l td.com/ - Book value
£572,085
I maging Biometrics  i s  an imaging soKware and healthcare diagnosAcs  company, whose subs idiaries  include I maging
Biometrics , LLC ("I B") and Stone Checker SoKware Limited. I B is  a  healthcare imaging soKware company that suppl ies
medical  technology soluAons, regulatory consulAng services  and has  a  neuroimaging product porOol io. Stone Checker
SoKware Limited is  a  suppl ier of technology soluAons in the field of kidney stone analys is  and kidney stone prevenAon.
Imaging Biometrics ' ordinary shares  are l i s ted on the main market of the London Stock Exchange. Trevor Brown is  the CEO of
Imaging Biometrics . On 11 October 2024, Braveheart announced the acquis i tion of 65,415,862 ordinary shares  of 0.1 pence
each in I maging Biometrics , represenAng 29.51% of the issued share capital , for a  total  cons ideraAon of £719k. O n 18
March 2025, the company raised £250k by way of a  placing, in which Braveheart subscribed for 7 mi l l ion new shares  at a
cons ideration of £70k.
 
I B provides  industry-leading imaging of brain tumours  us ing AI , with the main product I B C l inic producing fracAonal
tumour burden (F TB) maps. These maps aid cl inicians  in disAnguishing normal  from unhealthy Assue, oKen providing an
indicaAon of response to treatment sooner than convenAonal  imaging. O n 2 May 2025, I B reported prel iminary findings  of
a phase 1 cl inical  tria l  us ing gal l ium maltolate ("Ga M") for the treatment of paAents  with relapsed gl ioblastoma, an
aggress ive brain tumour. This  has  encouraged the company to apply to the U.S. Food and Drug AdministraAon for
'Breakthrough Therapy Des ignation' for i ts  innovative oral  gal l ium maltolate GaM) therapy. 

Braveheart a lso has  several  porOol io investments  that are smal ler scale legacy investments  for which we conAnue to seek
exits  where appropriate.

Outlook
 
Post-period end, we raised £295k by way of a  placing and broker opAon before costs  and deferred a s ignificant proporAon
of director fees. These acAons ensure that we wi l l  have sufficient resources  to conAnue to develop K irkstal l  and Paraytec,
whi le we wait for further developments  in Imaging Biometrics  and Autins  Group.
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whi le we wait for further developments  in Imaging Biometrics  and Autins  Group.
 
 
 
Trevor Brown
Chief Executive Officer
 
 
FINANCIAL REVIEW
During the year, we conAnued the comprehensive review of our cost base and conAnued to reduce the
central costs.
 
Income Statement
Fee-based revenue was generated by Braveheart I nvestment Group plc. The principal  revenue from the Group's  operaAons
comprises  investment management fees , with total  revenue during the year being £21,000 (2024: £61,000). F inance income
was £36,000 (2024: £17,000), being interest on outstanding loan notes  within Braveheart's  directly held portfol io.
 
As  at 31 March 2025, the total  number of directly held investments  in the porOol io of Strategic I nvestments  and the
PorOol io I nvestments  was  18 companies  (2024: 19).  The fa ir value of the directly held porOol io was  £2,271,000 (2024:
£1,653,000). During the year the group made investments  of £1,213,000 into four companies: AuAns Group plc, I mage Scan
Holdings  plc, Imaging Biometrics  Limited (previous ly IQ-AI Limited) and Gyrometric Systems Limited.
 
The group sold some shares  in Bui l t Cybernetics  plc (previous ly Aukett Swanke plc) and Image Scan Holdings  plc in the year,
resulting in a  loss  on disposal  of £23,000.
 
Total  income for the year ended 31 March 2025, including real ised gains  and unreal ised revaluaAon gains  and losses , was
a loss  of £408,000 (2024: £2,257,000 profi t) and impairments  of £Ni l  (2024: £4,847,000).
 
The average number of employees  remained at five during the period under review. Employee benefits  expense was
£335,000 (2024: £594,000). Other operating and finance costs  decreased to £254,000 (2024: £282,000). 
 
The total  loss  aKer tax improved to £1,089,000 (2024: £7,249,000 loss), equivalent to a  bas ic loss  per share of 1.71 pence
(2024: 11.38 pence loss).
 
Financial Position
The Group had net assets  of £2,329,000 as  at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: £3,397,000).
 
At the year end, the Group had cash balances  of £64,000 (2024: £1,742,000). There were no materia l  borrowings.
 
A summary analys is  of the Group's  performance is  as  fol lows:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Investment management revenue and sales 21 61
Finance income 36 17
Income before portfol io movements 57 78
(Loss) / profi t on disposal  of investments (24) 1,304
Change in fa i r value of investments , gain on disposal  of investments  and
movement in contingent l iabi l i ty (409) (2,257)
Impairment of investments - (4,847)
Total  income of continuing activi ties (376) (5,722)
Employee benefi ts  expense (including share- based payments) (335) (594)
Impairment of loans  in investment companies (124) (1,595)
Other operating and finance costs (254) (282)
Total  costs  on continuing activi ties (713) (2,471)
Loss  before tax - continuing (1,089) (8,193)
Tax - 944
Total  profi t and total  comprehensive profi t for the year (1,089) (7,249)

 
Opening cash balance       1,742 935
Investment in portfol io companies (1,213) (533)
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 163 2,513
Funds raised - net of share issue costs - -
Other activi ties (628) (1,173)
Clos ing cash balance 64 1,742

Net assets 2,329 3,397

 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
The KPIs we use to monitor business performance have been changed in order to bePer reflect the emphasis
that the Board has placed upon the development of the Strategic Investments as the best way to increase
shareholder value over the short and medium term. Given the nature of our business, these KPI's remain as,
primarily, financial measures.  They are:

2025 2024



2025 2024
Cash ('£000) 64 1,742
Share price (pence) 5.00 6.35
Income ('£000) 21 61
Value of investments 2,271 1,653

 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Through i ts  operations, the Group is  exposed to a  number of risks . The Group's  risk management objectives  and pol icies  are
described in the Corporate Governance Statement of the report and accounts . Braveheart i s  ensuring that a l l  necessary
steps  have been taken to maintain the integri ty of the Company's  assets  and the health and wel l -being of our employees. 
 
Section 172 Statement
 
SecAon 172 (1) of the Companies  Act obl iges  the Directors  to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of the
Company's  members  as  a  whole. This  secAon specifies  that the Directors  must act in good fa i th when promoAng the
success  of the Company and in doing so, have regard (amongst other things) to:
 
a . the l ikely consequences  of any decis ion in the long term,
b. the interests  of the Company's  employees,
c. the need to foster the Company's  bus iness  relationship with suppl iers , customers  and others ,
d. the impact of the Company's  operations  on the community and environment,
e. the des irabi l i ty of the Company maintaining a  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct, and
f. the need to act fa i rly between members  of the Company.
 
The Board of Directors  i s  col lecAvely responsible for formulaAng the Company's  strategy, which is  to invest in bus inesses
where prospects  appear to be excepAonal  and del iver growth to i ts  shareholders . O f course, the Board cannot predict the
future but a ims to make decis ions  that i t cons iders  are in the best interest of a l l  shareholders  at the Ame. Key decis ions
made by the Board in the current year were the investments  in Imaging Biometrics  plc.
 
O ur employees  are one of the primary assets  of our bus iness  and wi l l  be criAcal  to the future success  of the Company. F i rst
and foremost, the Directors  strive to ensure a  safe working environment for a l l  i ts  s taff and contractors , and we are proud
of our safety achievements  in 2024/25. We also seek to reward employees  with remuneraAon packages  which al ign the
interests  of the Company and i ts  shareholders  with those of the employees. Employees  are a lso provided with chal lenging
work and external  tra ining opportunities  to ensure their continual  development.
 
As  the Company is  an internal ly managed investment Company, i ts  only employees  are i ts  directors . The main stakeholders
are therefore the Company's  shareholders  and a smal l  number of key third party suppl iers , accountants , broker and
auditor. Its  customers  are therefore i ts  shareholders .
 
The Board places  equal  importance on al l  shareholders  and strives  for transparent and effecAve external  communicaAons,
within the regulatory confines of an AI M-l isted company. The primary communicaAon tool  for regulatory maPers  and
maPers  of materia l  substance is  through the Regulatory News Service ("R NS"). The Company's  website is  a lso updated
regularly and provides  further detai ls  on the bus iness  as  wel l  as  l inks  to helpful  content such as  our latest investor
presentations.
 
The Directors  bel ieve they have acted in the way they cons ider most l ikely to promote the success  of the Company for the
benefi t of i ts  members  as  a  whole, as  required by Section 172 (1) of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
The Board encourages  senior management to engage with staff, suppl iers , customers  and the community, to ass ist the
Board in discharging i ts  obl igations.
 
The Group operates  by remote working and as  such has  a  l imited impact on the environment and has  no greenhouse gas
emiss ions  to report as  indicated on this  page. Both within the Group and in i ts  investment porOol io the Company promotes
wherever poss ible an ecological ly sound pol icy and cons iders  i ts  impact on socia l , community and human rights  i ssues.
Braveheart i s  a lways  taking into account the cons iderable pressures  of budget, commercial  and market constraints .

I n order to maintain a  good reputaAon, the Board ensures  that i t communicates  accurately and effecAvely with i ts
shareholders  and has  strict procedures  in place that ensures  that the Group is  compl iant with regulaAons. The Board is
open to engage with investors  on our financial  performance, strategy and bus iness  model , with the Annual  General  MeeAng
providing an opportunity for investors  to meet and engage with members  of the Board.
 
 
On behalf of the Board
Trevor E Brown
Chief Executive Officer

9 July 2025
 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 31 March 2025

   
    

 2025 2024  
Note s £ £  

 
Re ve nue  from contra cts  wi th cus tome rs 3 20,500 60,896  



Re ve nue  from contra cts  wi th cus tome rs 3 20,500 60,896  
Cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  of i nve s tme nts 10 (408,681) (2,257,293)  
Impa i rme nt of i nve s tme nts 10 - (4,847,349)  
(Los s ) / profi t on di s pos a l  of i nve s tme nts 10 (23,792) 1,304,035  
Total income (411,973) (5,739,711)  

   
Empl oye e  be ne fi ts  e xpe ns e 5 (335,416) (594,234)  
Othe r ope ra ti ng cos ts 7 (251,099) (278,852)  
Total operating costs  (586,515) (873,086)  

Impa i rme nt of l oa ns  i n i nve s tme nt compa ni e s 13 (123,933) (1,594,620)
Fi na nce  cos ts 6 (2,971) (2,795)  
Fi na nce  i ncome 4 36,491 16,896  
Total costs (676,928) (2,453,605)  
    
(Loss)/ profit before tax (1,088,901) (8,193,316)  
    
Ta x 8 - 944,050  

 
(Loss)/ profit from continuing operations (1,088,901) (7,249,266)  
    
    
Total (loss)/ profit and total comprehensive loss for the year (1,088,901) (7,249,266)  
    
Profit attributable to:  
Equi ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt (1,088,901) (7,249,266)  

(1,088,901) (7,249,266)  
 

Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re Pence Pence  
- ba s i c 9 (1.71) (11.38)  
- di l ute d 9 (1.71) (11.38)  

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  as  at 31 March 2025

    
  2025 2024
 Note s £ £
ASSETS    
Non-current assets  
Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt 12 -   108
Inve s tme nts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or
l os s        10

2,271,052 1,653,341

  2,271,052 1,653,449
    
Current assets    
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 14 52,922 105,707
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 15 63,671 1,742,315

116,593 1,848,022

Total assets 2,387,645 3,501,471

    
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities    
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 16 (58,141) (104,145)
 (58,141) (104,145)
 
Non-current liabilities  

  

De fe rre d ta xa ti on 17 - -
    
Total liabilities  (58,141) (104,145)

    
Net assets 2,329,504 3,397,326

   
EQUITY    
Ca l l e d up s ha re  ca pi ta l 18 1,274,469 1,274,469
Sha re  pre mi um re s e rve 18 5,370,711 5,370,711
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve 18 203,240 598,188
Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs (4,518,916) (3,846,042)



Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs (4,518,916) (3,846,042)
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent  2,329,504 3,397,326
Total equity  2,329,504 3,397,326

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .             
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS for the year ended 31 March 2025

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .

    
    
  

 2025 2024
   £ £
Operating activities   
(Los s )/ profi t be fore  ta x (1,088,901) (8,193,316)
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash
flows from operating activities
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt 21,079 126,985
Impa i rme nt of l oa ns  i n i nve s tme nt compa ni e s 123,933 1,594,620
De cre a s e  i n the  fa i r va l ue  move me nts  of
i nve s tme nts 408,681 2,257,293
Impa i rme nt of i nve s tme nts - 4,847,349
Profi t on di s pos a l  of e qui ty i nve s tme nts 23,792 (1,304,035)
De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on 108 310
Inte re s t i ncome (36,491) (16,896)
De cre a s e  / (Incre a s e ) i n tra de  a nd othe r
re ce i va bl e s

52,785 (44,015)

De cre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s (45,995) (21,309)
Cash flow used in operating activities  (541,009) (753,014)

Investing activities
Proce e ds  from s a l e  of i nve s tme nts 163,287 2,512,690
Purcha s e  of i nve s tme nts (1,213,480) (532,516)
Loa ns  to i nve s tme nts (123,933) (436,602)
Inte re s t re ce i ve d 36,491 16,896
Net cash flow used in investing activities  (1,137,635) 1,560,468

Financing activities
Funds  ra i s e d, ne t of s ha re  i s s ue  cos ts  - -
Net cash flow from financing activities  - -

Ne t i ncre a s e / (de cre a s e ) i n ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

(1,678,644) 807,454

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t the  be gi nni ng of the
ye a r

1,742,315 934,861

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  63,671 1,742,315

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
For non-ca s h move me nt i n i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s , s e e  note  10 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 31 March 2025

Called up
Share

Capital

Share
Premium
Reserve

Share
based

payment
Reserve

Retained
Earnings/

(Deficit) Total

 

Total Equity

GROUP £ £ £ £ £  £
At 31 March 2023 1,274,469 5,370,711 471,203 3,403,224 10,519,607  10,519,607
Profit a nd tota l
compre he ns i ve  profi t for the
ye a r

-
 

-
 

-
 

(7,249,266)
 

(7,249,266)
 

(7,249,266)
 

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts - - 126,985 - 126,985 126,985
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in
equity - - 126,985 (7,249,266) (7,122,281) (7,122,281)
At 31 March 2024 1,274,469 5,370,711 598,188 (3,846,042) 3,397,326  3,397,326

Profit a nd tota l
compre he ns i ve  profi t for the
ye a r

-
 

-
 

-
 

(1,088,901)
 

(1,088,901)
 

(1,088,901)
 

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts - - 21,079 - 21,079 21,079
Tra ns fe r to re ta i ne d
e a rni ngs  - s urre nde r of
opti ons - - (416,027) 416,027 - -



opti ons - - (416,027) 416,027 - -
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in
equity - - (394,948) (672,874) (1,067,822) (1,067,822)
At 31 March 2025 1,274,469 5,370,711 203,240 (4,518,916) 2,329,504  2,329,504

Sha re  ca pi ta l  i s  the  numbe r of s ha re s  i s s ue d i n the  compa ny a t the i r nomi na l  va l ue . The  s ha re  pre mi um a ccount re pre s e nts  the
gros s  proce e ds  from i s s ue  of s ha re s , l e s s  the i r nomi na l  va l ue . Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve  i s  the  a mount ge ne ra te d from the
a wa rd of s ha re  opAons  a nd wa rra nAe s . Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  i s  the  cumul a Ave  ne t ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re cogni s e d i n the
cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  ne t of a s s oci a te d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  cre di ts .

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

1 Corporate information
The  Group a nd Compa ny fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  of Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c (the  Compa ny) for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch
2025 we re  a uthori s e d for i s s ue  by the  Boa rd of Di re ctors  on 9 June  2025 a nd the  s ta te me nts  of fina nci a l  pos i Aon we re  s i gne d on
the  Boa rd's  be ha l f by Tre vor Brown.
Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c i s  a  publ i c compa ny i ncorpora te d i n the  Uni te d Ki ngdom unde r the  Compa ni e s  Act 2006 l i mi te d
by s ha re s .  The  a ddre s s  of the  re gi s te re d office  i s  de ta i l e d a t the  ba ck of thi s  re port.  The  na ture  of the  Group's  ope ra Aons  a nd
i ts  pri nci pa l  a cAvi Ae s  a re  s e t out i n the  Stra te gi c Re port a nd Di re ctors ' Re port.  The  Compa ny i s  re gi s te re d i n Scotl a nd.  The
Compa ny's  ordi na ry s ha re s  a re  tra de d on the  AIM ma rke t of the  London Stock Excha nge .
 
2 Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The  Group a nd Compa ny fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d i n a ccorda nce  wi th UK-a dopte d i nte rna Aona l  a ccounAng
s ta nda rds  i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  re qui re me nts  of the  Compa ni e s  Act 2006 a nd i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  re qui re me nts  of the  AIM
rul e s . The  pri nci pa l  a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a dopte d by the  Group a nd by the  Compa ny a re  s e t out i n the  fol l owi ng note s .
The  cons ol i da te d fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d on a  hi s tori ca l  cos t ba s i s , e xce pt for fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  tha t a re
me a s ure d a t the  fa i r va l ue s  a t the  e nd of the  re porAng pe ri od. The  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  a re  pre s e nte d i n s te rl i ng a nd a l l  va l ue s
a re  rounde d to the  ne a re s t pound (£), whi ch i s  a l s o the  funcAona l  curre ncy of the  compa ny a nd i ts  s ubs i di a ri e s , e xce pt whe re
othe rwi s e  i ndi ca te d.
The  Group's  bus i ne s s  a cAvi Ae s  (toge the r wi th the  fa ctors  l i ke l y to a ffe ct i ts  future  de ve l opme nt, pe rforma nce  a nd pos i Aon) a nd
i ts  fina nci a l  pos i Aon i s  s e t out i n the  Chi e f Exe cuAve  Office r's  Re port.  The  Group's  ri s k ma na ge me nt obje cAve s  a nd pol i ci e s  a re
de s cri be d i n the  Corpora te  Gove rna nce  Sta te me nt. Furthe r i nforma Aon re ga rdi ng the  Group's  fina nci a l  ri s k ma na ge me nt
obje cAve s  a nd pol i ci e s , i ncl udi ng thos e  i n re l a Aon to cre di t  ri s k, l i qui di ty ri s k a nd ma rke t ri s k, i s  provi de d i n note  21 to the
fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts . The  Group's  ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje cti ve s  a re  s ta te d on pa ge  52, note  (n).
 
(b) Investment policy

The  Group's  s tra te gy i s  to i nve s t i n e a rl y a nd l a te r-s ta ge  bus i ne s s e s , pri ma ri l y i n the  te chnol ogy s e ctor, but i t wi l l  a l s o cons i de r

opportuni ti e s  i n othe r s e ctors  tha t a re  knowl e dge  i nte ns i ve , s uch a s  he a l thca re  a nd profe s s i ona l  s e rvi ce s .

The  Group wi l l  ta rge t i nve s tme nts  i n both unl i s te d a nd l i s te d compa ni e s , whe re  the re  i s  pote nAa l  for s i gni fica nt growth.

Inve s tme nts  a re  e xpe cte d to be  ma i nl y i n the  form of e qui ty a nd e qui ty-re l a te d i ns trume nts , i ncl udi ng conve rAbl e  de bt

i ns trume nts  i n ce rta i n ci rcums ta nce s .

 The  Group ma y a cqui re  i nve s tme nts  di re ctl y or by wa y of hol di ngs  i n i nte rme di a te  hol di ng or s ubs i di a ry e nAAe s . The  Group

mi ght a l s o i nve s t i n l i mi te d l i a bi l i ty pa rtne rs hi ps  a nd othe r forms  of l e ga l  e nAty. Whe re  pos s i bl e , the  Group wi l l  s e e k i nve s tor

prote cAon ri ghts , a s  de te rmi ne d by the  Boa rd. The  Group ma y offe r i ts  Ordi na ry Sha re s  i n e xcha nge  for s ha re s  i n i nve s te e

bus i ne s s e s  i n a ddi ti on to a  ca s h i nve s tme nt i n s uch bus i ne s s e s . 

For unl i s te d compa ny i nve s tme nts , the  Group ta rge ts  compa ni e s  a t di ffe re nt s ta ge s  of de ve l opme nt, ra ngi ng from thos e  whi ch

a re  jus t s ta rti ng to tra de  to thos e  whi ch a re  e xpe cti ng to a chi e ve  a n IPO i n the  s hort te rm, thus  provi di ng portfol i o di ve rs i fi ca ti on.

The s e  i nve s tme nts  wi l l  typi ca l l y i nvol ve  a cti ve  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt.

The  Group, whe re  a ppropri a te  a nd de e me d by the  Boa rd to be  i n the  Group's  be s t i nte re s ts , ma y s e e k a  pos i Aon on the  boa rds

of unl i s te d i nve s te e  compa ni e s . The  Group whe re  a ppropri a te , wi l l  a s s i s t the  boa rd a nd ma na ge me nt of i nve s te e  compa ni e s ,

i ncl udi ng he l pi ng to s ca l e  ma na ge me nt te a ms , i nformi ng s tra te gy a nd a s s i s ti ng wi th future  fina nci ng. 

For l i s te d compa ny i nve s tme nts , the  Group ta rge ts  i nve s tme nts  whe re  the  Boa rd cons i de rs  the  s ha re s  a re  unde rva l ue d but the re

a re  opportuni Ae s  for s i gni fica nt growth. The s e  i nve s tme nts  wi l l  typi ca l l y i nvol ve  pa s s i ve  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt, a l though the

Boa rd ma y ta ke  a  more  a cti ve  a pproa ch i f i t cons i de rs  the re  i s  a  ne e d to e ffe ct cha nge .

Bra ve he a rt ma y occa s i ona l l y i nve s t i n compa ni e s  tha t a re  i n re s cue  or di s tre s s  s i tua Aons  whe re  a  va l ue -cre a Ang opportuni ty

ha s  be e n i de nti fi e d.

The  Group doe s  not ha ve  a ny ma xi mum e xpos ure  l i mi ts  but wi l l  ge ne ra l l y ta ke  a  mi nori ty s ta ke  i n a  bus i ne s s  a nd l ook for
i nve s tme nts  whe re  the re  i s  a  good pros pe ct of a n e xi t i n a  two-to-five -ye a r Ame  pe ri od. As  ri s k re duce s , the  Group ma y i ncre a s e
i ts  i nve s tme nt i n s ubs e que nt rounds  of fundi ng a nd, a s  thos e  bus i ne s s e s  grow, ma y find i ts e l f hol di ng a  control l i ng i nte re s t i n
s ome  tra di ng compa ni e s . Howe ve r, i n s uch i ns ta nce s  the  Boa rd wi l l  e ns ure  tha t the re  i s  s uffici e nt s e pa ra Aon be twe e n the
Group a nd the  i nve s te e  compa ny s o tha t the  i nve s te e  compa ny doe s  not be come  a  tra di ng compa ny of the  Group.
 
(c) Going Concern
The  di re ctors  ha ve  re vi e we d the  Group's  a nd the  Compa ny's  budge ts  a nd pl a ns , ta ki ng a ccount of re a s ona bl y pos s i bl e  cha nge s
i n tra di ng pe rforma nce  a nd ha ve  a  re a s ona bl e  e xpe cta Aon tha t the  Group a nd the  Compa ny ha ve  a de qua te  re s ource s  to
conAnue  i n ope ra Aona l  e xi s te nce  for the  fore s e e a bl e  future  a nd tha t i t i s  the re fore  a ppropri a te  to conAnue  to a dopt the  goi ng
conce rn ba s i s  i n pre pa ri ng the  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
The  group curre ntl y unde rta ke  re gul a r re vi e ws  of the  ca s h flows  of the  compa ny. Furthe rmore , the  group ha ve  a  l a rge  numbe r of
l i s te d i nve s tme nts  tha t coul d be  conve rte d to ca s h i f re qui re d. The  group ra i s e d funds  of £295k be fore  e xpe ns e s  a Ke r the  ye a r
e nd. The  group fore ca s t a t l e a s t 12 months  i nto the  future  a t a l l  Ame s  i n orde r to e ns ure  tha t the  compa ny ca n conAnue  i nto the
fore s e e a bl e  future .
 
(d) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The re  a re  no ne w s ta nda rds  whi ch be ca me  e ffe cti ve  i n the  ye a r whi ch ha d a  ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  group.



The re  a re  no ne w s ta nda rds  whi ch be ca me  e ffe cti ve  i n the  ye a r whi ch ha d a  ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  group.

 
(e) New standards and interpretations not yet effective
The  Group ha s  a dopte d a l l  re cogni Aon, me a s ure me nt a nd di s cl os ure  re qui re me nts  of IFRS, i ncl udi ng a ny ne w a nd re vi s e d
s ta nda rds  a nd i nte rpre ta Aons  of IFRS, i n e ffe ct for a nnua l  pe ri ods  comme nci ng on or a Ke r 1 Apri l  2023. The  a dopAon of the s e
s ta nda rds  a nd a me ndme nts  di d not ha ve  a ny ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  fi na nci a l  re s ul t of pos i ti on i n the  Group.
 
At the  da te  of a uthori s a Aon of the s e  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts , the  fol l owi ng Sta nda rds  a nd Inte rpre ta Aon, whi ch ha ve  not ye t be e n
a ppl i e d i n the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts , we re  i n i s s ue , but not ye t e ffe cti ve :
 
New Standards Effective Date
IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
IAS 7 and 9 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 1 January 2026
IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
 
(f) Basis of consolidation
The  Group's  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  cons ol i da te  the  re s ul ts  of Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c a nd i ts  s ubs i di a ri e s  (toge the r
re fe rre d to a s  the  'Group') dra wn up to 31 Ma rch e a ch ye a r.  The  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  of the  s ubs i di a ri e s  us e d i n the  pre pa ra Aon
of the  cons ol i da te d fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  a re  pre pa re d for the  s a me  re porAng ye a r a s  the  pa re nt compa ny us i ng cons i s te nt
a ccounAng pol i ci e s .  Al l  i ntra -group ba l a nce s , tra ns a cAons , i ncome  a nd e xpe ns e s  a re  e l i mi na te d i n ful l  on cons ol i da Aon. The
Compa ny i s  cl a s s i fi e d a s  a n i nve s tme nt e nti ty a s  i t me e ts  the  de fi ni ti on of a n i nve s tme nt e nti ty wi thi n Pa ra gra ph 27 IFRS 10.

-      Subsidiaries
The  s ubs i di a ri e s  ha ve  be e n cons ol i da te d from the  da te  of the i r a cqui s i Aon, be i ng the  da te  on whi ch the  Group obta i ne d
control , a nd wi l l  conAnue  to be  cons ol i da te d unAl  the  da te  tha t s uch control  ce a s e s . As  pe r IFRS 10, a n e nAty i s  cl a s s e d a s
unde r the  control  of the  Group whe n a l l  thre e  of the  fol l owi ng e l e me nts  a re  pre s e nt: powe r ove r the  e nAty, e xpos ure  to va ri a bl e
re turns  from the  e nAty a nd the  a bi l i ty of the  Group to us e  i ts  powe r to a ffe ct thos e  va ri a bl e  re turns . Control  i s  re a s s e s s e d
whe ne ve r fa cts  a nd ci rcums ta nce s  i ndi ca te  tha t the re  ma y be  a  cha nge  i n a ny of the s e  e l e me nts  of control .
A cha nge  i n the  owne rs hi p i nte re s t of a  s ubs i di a ry, wi thout a  l os s  of control , i s  a ccounte d for a s  a n e qui ty tra ns a cti on.
The  group a ppl i e s  the  a cqui s i Aon me thod to a ccount for bus i ne s s  combi na Aons . The  cons i de ra Aon tra ns fe rre d for the
a cqui s i Aon of a  s ubs i di a ry i s  the  fa i r va l ue s  of the  a s s e ts  tra ns fe rre d, the  l i a bi l i Ae s  i ncurre d to the  forme r owne rs  of the
a cqui re e  a nd the  e qui ty i nte re s ts  i s s ue d by the  group. The  cons i de ra Aon tra ns fe rre d i ncl ude s  the  fa i r va l ue  of a ny a s s e t or
l i a bi l i ty re s ul Ang from a  conAnge nt cons i de ra Aon a rra nge me nt. Ide nAfia bl e  a s s e ts  a cqui re d a nd l i a bi l i Ae s  a nd conAnge nt
l i a bi l i Ae s  a s s ume d i n a  bus i ne s s  combi na Aon a re  me a s ure d i ni Aa l l y a t the i r fa i r va l ue s  a t the  a cqui s i Aon da te . The  group
re cogni s e s  a ny non-control l i ng i nte re s t i n the  a cqui re e  on a n a cqui s i Aon-by-a cqui s i Aon ba s i s , e i the r a t fa i r va l ue  or a t the  non-
control l i ng i nte re s t's  proporti ona te  s ha re  of the  re cogni s e d a mounts  of a cqui re e 's  i de nti fi a bl e  ne t a s s e ts .
Acqui s i ti on-re l a te d cos ts  a re  e xpe ns e d a s  i ncurre d.
If the  bus i ne s s  combi na Aon i s  a chi e ve d i n s ta ge s , the  a cqui s i Aon da te  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  a cqui re r's  pre vi ous l y he l d e qui ty
i nte re s t i n the  a cqui re e  i s  re -me a s ure d to fa i r va l ue  a t the  a cqui s i Aon da te ; a ny ga i ns  or l os s e s  a ri s i ng from s uch re -
me a s ure me nt a re  re cogni s e d i n profi t or l os s .
If the  Group l os e s  control  ove r a  s ubs i di a ry, i t de re cogni s e s  the  re l a te d a s s e ts , l i a bi l i Ae s , non-control l i ng i nte re s t a nd a ny
othe r compone nts  of e qui ty whi l e  a ny re s ul ta nt ga i n or l os s  i s  re cogni s e d i n profit or l os s . Any i nve s tme nt re ta i ne d i s
re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue .
The  Group i s  ma de  up of s e ve ra l  di ffe re nt type s  of s ubs i di a ri e s . The  Group a s s e s s e s  the  funcAon pe rforme d by e a ch type  of
s ubs i di a ry to de te rmi ne  i ts  tre a tme nt unde r the  IFRS 10 e xce pAon from cons ol i da Aon. The  type s  of s ubs i di a ri e s  a nd the i r
tre a tme nt unde r IFRS 10 a re  a s  fol l ows :

·    Inve s tme nt ma na ge rs  - Cons ol i da te d           
·      The s e  e nAAe s  provi de  i nve s tme nt re l a te d s e rvi ce s  through the  provi s i on of i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt or a dvi ce . The y do

not hol d a ny di re ct i nve s tme nts  i n portfol i o a s s e ts . The s e  e nti ti e s  a re  not i nve s tme nt e nti ti e s .
·      Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne rs  (GPs ) - Cons ol i da te d

Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne rs  provi de  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt s e rvi ce s  a nd do not hol d a ny di re ct i nve s tme nts  i n porOol i o a s s e ts .
The s e  e nti ti e s  a re  not i nve s tme nt e nti ti e s .

Non-control l i ng i nte re s ts  re pre s e nt the  porAon of profit or l os s  a nd ne t a s s e ts  tha t i s  not he l d by the  Group a nd a re  pre s e nte d
s e pa ra te l y i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  a nd wi thi n e qui ty i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of
fi na nci a l  pos i ti on s e pa ra te l y from pa re nt s ha re hol de rs ' e qui ty.
 
(g) Use of estimates and assumptions
The  pre pa ra Aon of the  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  i n conformi ty wi th IFRS re qui re s  ma na ge me nt to ma ke  judge me nts , e s Ama te s  a nd
a s s umpAons  tha t a ffe ct the  a ppl i ca Aon of pol i ci e s  a nd re porte d a mounts  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i Ae s , i ncome  a nd e xpe ns e s .  The
e s Ama te s  a nd a s s oci a te d a s s umpAons  a re  ba s e d on hi s tori ca l  e xpe ri e nce  a nd othe r fa ctors  tha t a re  be l i e ve d to be  re a s ona bl e
unde r the  ci rcums ta nce s , the  re s ul ts  of whi ch form the  ba s i s  of ma ki ng the  judge me nts  a bout ca rryi ng va l ue s  of a s s e ts  a nd
l i a bi l i Ae s  tha t a re  not re a di l y a ppa re nt from othe r s ource s .  Actua l  re s ul ts  ma y di ffe r from the s e  e s Ama te s .  Whe re
ma na ge me nt's  judge me nt ha s  be e n a ppl i e d, thi s  i s  note d i n the  re l e va nt a ccounti ng pol i cy.
The  ke y a s s umpAons  conce rni ng the  future  a nd othe r ke y s ource s  of e s Ama Aon unce rta i nty a t the  re porAng da te  tha t ha ve  a
s i gni fica nt ri s k of ca us i ng a  ma te ri a l  a djus tme nt to the  ca rryi ng a mounts  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i Ae s  wi thi n the  ne xt fina nci a l  ye a r
a re  di s cus s e d be l ow:

-      Assessment as an investment entity
EnAAe s  tha t me e t the  de fini Aon of a n i nve s tme nt e nAty wi thi n IFRS 10 a re  re qui re d to a ccount for mos t i nve s tme nts  i n
control l e d e nAAe s  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit a nd l os s .  The  Boa rd ha s  concl ude d tha t the  Compa ny conAnue s  to me e t the
de fini Aon of a n i nve s tme nt e nAty a s  i ts  s tra te gi c obje cAve  of i nve s Ang i n porOol i o i nve s tme nts  a nd provi di ng i nve s tme nt
ma na ge me nt s e rvi ce s  to i nve s tors  for the  purpos e  of ge ne ra Ang re turns  i n the  form of i nve s tme nt i ncome  a nd ca pi ta l
a ppre ci a ti on re ma i ns  uncha nge d.
The  Group i s  re qui re d to de te rmi ne  the  de gre e  of control  or i nflue nce  the  Group e xe rci s e s  a nd the  form of a ny control  to e ns ure
tha t the  fi na nci a l  tre a tme nt i s  a ccura te .

-      Impairment of investments and loan receivable from investee companies - see note 10
Ma na ge me nt a s s e s s me nt of the  i mpa i rme nt i ndi ca tors  i ncl udi ng; pe rforma nce  of the  i nve s te e  compa ni e s , future  pros pe cts ,
a bi l i ty to e xi t.

-      Fair value of unquoted investments - see note 10
Unquote d i nve s tme nts  ha ve  be e n va l ue d by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of the  Inte rna Aona l  Pri va te  Equi ty
a nd Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  Gui de l i ne s  a s  e ndors e d by the  Europe a n Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  As s oci a Aon (EVCA).  The  us e  of s uch va l ua Aon
te chni que s  re qui re s  the  di re ctors  to ma ke  ce rta i n judge me nts  i ncl udi ng ma ki ng a s s e s s me nts  of future  re ve nue  a nd e a rni ngs  of
porOol i o compa ni e s , a ppropri a te  mul Apl e s  to a ppl y, a nd ma rke ta bi l i ty a nd othe r ri s k di s counts  a nd provi s i ons , a nd he nce  the y
a re  s ubje ct to unce rta i nty. Ma na ge me nt be l i e ve s  tha t i n the i r e xpe ri e nce , the  l a s t round s ha re  pri ce  te nds  to be  the  mos t
re l i a bl e  me thod of ca l cul a Ang the s e  i nve s tme nts , unl e s s  the re  i s  a  ma jor cha nge  to the  compa ny s i nce  tha t poi nt a s  the re  i s  a
prove n ba s i s  for the  s ha re  pri ce . The  fa i r va l ue  of unquote d i nve s tme nts  of the  Group a t 31 Ma rch 2025 wa s  £27,367 (2024:
£39,246) a nd of the  Pa re nt Compa ny wa s  £27,356 (2024: £39,228).
To re fle ct the  pote nAa l  i mpa ct of a l te rna Ave  a s s umpAons  a nd a  l a ck of l i qui di ty i n the s e  hol di ngs , a  di s count ha s  be e n a ppl i e d



To re fle ct the  pote nAa l  i mpa ct of a l te rna Ave  a s s umpAons  a nd a  l a ck of l i qui di ty i n the s e  hol di ngs , a  di s count ha s  be e n a ppl i e d
to a l l  Le ve l  3 va l ua Aons .  Furthe r i nforma Aon re ga rdi ng the  Group's  a nd Pa re nt Compa ny's  fa i r va l ue  of unquote d i nve s tme nts  i s
provi de d i n note  10

-     Share-based payments
The  Group me a s ure s  the  cos t of e qui ty-s e ttl e d tra ns a cti ons  by re fe re nce  to the  fa i r va l ue  of the  e qui ty i ns trume nts  a t the  da te  a t
whi ch the y we re  gra nte d.  Judge me nt i s  re qui re d i n de te rmi ni ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  va l ua Aon mode l  for a  gra nt of e qui ty
i ns trume nts  de pe ndi ng on the  te rms  a nd condi Aons  of the  gra nt.  Ma na ge me nt a re  a l s o re qui re d to us e  ce rta i n a s s umpAons  i n
de te rmi ni ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  i nputs  to the  va l ua Aon mode l  i ncl udi ng e xpe cte d l i fe  of the  opAon, vol a Al i ty, ri s k fre e  ra te
a nd di vi de nd yi e l d.  The  a s s umpti ons  a nd mode l s  us e d a re  ful l y di s cl os e d i n note  19.
(h)  Revenue recognition and segmental reporting
The  Group e a rns  fe e  i ncome  from the  s e rvi ce s  i t provi de s  to i ts  cl i e nts  a nd moni tori ng fe e s  from i nve s te e  compa ni e s . Re ve nue
i s  re cogni s e d a t the  fa i r va l ue  of the  cons i de ra Aon re ce i ve d or re ce i va bl e , e xcl udi ng re ba te s . Fe e s  e a rne d for the  provi s i on of a n
ongoi ng s e rvi ce  a re  re cogni s e d a s  tha t s e rvi ce  i s  provi de d. De a l  fe e s  a nd a rra nge me nt fe e s  a re  e a rne d on i ndi vi dua l
tra ns a cAons  a nd re l a te d re ve nue  i s  re cogni s e d on compl e Aon of the  unde rl yi ng tra ns a cAon.  The  Group re ce i ve s  compe ns a Aon
for i ts  rol e  a s  fund ma na ge r; the s e  fund ma na ge me nt fe e s  i ncl ude  fixe d fe e s  a nd pe rforma nce  fe e s  a nd a re  re cogni s e d a s  the
re l a te d s e rvi ce s  a re  provi de d. Moni tori ng fe e s  a re  re cogni s e d a s  tha t s e rvi ce  i s  provi de d.
Inte re s t i ncome  i s  re cogni s e d us i ng the  e ffe cAve  i nte re s t me thod. Inte re s t i ncome  i s  i nte re s t e a rne d on ba nk de pos i t a ccounts
a nd l oa n note s  a nd i s  i ncl ude d wi thi n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome .
Re ve nue  i s  de fe rre d whe n i t doe s  not me e t the  re ve nue  re cogni Aon pol i cy a nd i s  pre s e nte d a s  de fe rre d i ncome  i n the
s ta te me nt of fi na nci a l  pos i ti on.
An ope ra Ang s e gme nt i s  a  compone nt of the  Group tha t e nga ge s  i n bus i ne s s  a cAvi ty from whi ch i t ma y e a rn re ve nue s  a nd i ncur
e xpe ns e s , i ncl udi ng re ve nue s  a nd e xpe ns e s  tha t re l a te  to tra ns a cAons  wi th a nd of the  Group's  othe r compone nts . Al l  ope ra Ang
s e gme nts ' ope ra ti ng re s ul ts , for whi ch di s cre te  fi na nci a l  i nforma ti on i s  a va i l a bl e , a re  re vi e we d re gul a rl y by the  Group's  Boa rd to
ma ke  de ci s i ons  a bout re s ource s  to be  a l l oca te d to the  s e gme nt a nd a s s e s s  i ts  pe rforma nce .
(i) Taxation                                                                                                                                                                               
The  ta x e xpe ns e  re pre s e nts  the  s um of the  ta x curre ntl y pa ya bl e .  Curre nt ta x i s  ba s e d on ta xa bl e  profit for the  ye a r. Ta xa bl e
profit di ffe rs  from ne t profit a s  re porte d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  be ca us e  i t e xcl ude s  i te ms  of i ncome  or
e xpe ns e s  tha t a re  de ducAbl e  i n othe r ye a rs  a nd i t furthe r e xcl ude s  i te ms  tha t a re  ne ve r ta xa bl e  or de ducAbl e .  The  Group's
l i a bi l i ty for curre nt ta x i s  ca l cul a te d us i ng ta x ra te s  tha t ha ve  be e n e na cte d or s ubs ta nti ve l y e na cte d by the  re porti ng da te .
A de fe rre d ta x a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty s ha l l  be  re cogni s e d for a l l  ta xa bl e  te mpora ry di ffe re nce s , e xce pt to the  e xte nt tha t the  de fe rre d
ta x a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty a ri s e s  from (a ) the  i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon of goodwi l l , (b) the  i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon of a n a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty i n a
tra ns a cti on whi ch (i ) i s  not a  bus i ne s s
combi na Aon a nd (i i ) a t the  Ame  of the  tra ns a cAon, a ffe cts  ne i the r a ccounAng profit/(l os s ) nor ta xa bl e  profit/(l os s ) or (c) re l a te s
to a n i nve s tme nt i n s ubs i di a ry, e xce pt to the  e xte nt tha t (i ) the  pa re nt i s  a bl e  to control  Ami ng of re ve rs a l  a nd (i i ) i t i s  proba bl e
tha t te mpora ry di ffe re nce s  wi l l  not
re ve rs e  i n the  fore s e e a bl e  future .  De fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  a re  re cogni s e d to the  e xte nt tha t i t i s  proba bl e  tha t ta xa bl e  profits  wi l l
be  a va i l a bl e  a ga i ns t whi ch de ducAbl e  te mpora ry di ffe re nce s  ca n be  uAl i s e d.  De fe rre d ta x i s  ca l cul a te d a t the  ta x ra te s  tha t a re
e xpe cte d to a ppl y i n the  pe ri od whe n the  l i a bi l i ty i s  s e Pl e d or the  a s s e t i s  re a l i s e d us i ng ta x ra te s  a nd l a ws  tha t ha ve  be e n
e na cte d or s ubs ta nti ve l y e na cte d by the  re porti ng da te .
(j) Tangible assets
Ta ngi bl e  fi xe d a s s e ts  a re  s ta te d a t cos t l e s s  de pre ci a ti on a nd a ny provi s i on for i mpa i rme nt.

De pre ci a Aon i s  ca l cul a te d us i ng the  s tra i ght-l i ne  me thod to a l l oca te  the i r cos t or re va l ue d a mounts , ne t of the i r re s i dua l

va l ue s , ove r the i r e s ti ma te d us e ful  l i ve s  a s  fol l ows :

 

Furni ture , fi tti ngs  a nd offi ce  e qui pme nt                   ove r thre e  ye a rs

 
(k) Financial assets
Fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  re cogni s e d whe n the  Group be come s  pa rty to the  contra cts  tha t gi ve  ri s e  to the m a nd a re  cl a s s i fie d a t
i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon a s  e i the r fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s  or l oa ns  a nd re ce i va bl e s . Fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  a re
de re cogni s e d whe n the  ri ghts  to re ce i ve  ca s h flows  from the  a s s e t ha ve  e xpi re d or the  Group ha s  tra ns fe rre d s ubs ta nAa l l y a l l
the  ri s ks  a nd re wa rds  of the  a s s e t.

-      Impairments       
Inve s tme nts  a re  te s te d for i ndi ca tors  of i mpa i rme nt on a  re gul a r ba s i s . Whe re  a n i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n de e me d to be  i mpa i re d,
tha t a s s e t i s  wri tte n down a ccordi ngl y.

-      Investments at fair value through profit or loss         
Inve s tme nts , whi ch i s  ma de  up of e qui ty i nve s tme nts , a re  de s i gna te d on i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon a s  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue
through profi t or l os s . Thi s  me a s ure me nt ba s i s  i s  cons i s te nt wi th the  fa ct tha t the  Group's  pe rforma nce  i n re s pe ct of i ts  portfol i o
i nve s tme nts  i s  e va l ua te d on a  fa i r va l ue  ba s i s  i n a ccorda nce  wi th a n e s ta bl i s he d i nve s tme nt s tra te gy. Whe n i nve s tme nts  a re
re cogni s e d i ni ti a l l y, the y a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue .
AKe r i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon the  fa i r va l ue  of l i s te d i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d by re fe re nce  to bi d pri ce s  a t the  cl os e  of bus i ne s s  on
the  re porti ng da te .
 
Unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue  by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of the  Inte rna Aona l
Pri va te  Equi ty a nd Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  Gui de l i ne s , upda te d a nd e ffe cAve  De ce mbe r 2022, a s  re comme nde d by the  Europe a n Ve nture
Ca pi ta l  As s oci a Aon. The  fa i r va l ue  of unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  of the  va l ua Aon
me thodol ogi e s  s e t out i n the  gui de l i ne s . The s e  i ncl ude  us i ng re ce nt a rm's  l e ngth ma rke t tra ns a cAons ; re fe re nce  to the  curre nt
ma rke t va l ue  of a nothe r i ns trume nt, whi ch i s  s ubs ta nAa l l y the  s a me ; e a rni ngs  or profit mul Apl e s ; i ndi ca Ave  offe rs ; di s counte d
ca s h fl ow a na l ys i s  a nd pri ci ng mode l s .
Whe re ve r pos s i bl e  the  Group us e s  va l ua Aon te chni que s  whi ch ma ke  ma xi mum us e  of obs e rva bl e  ma rke t ba s e d i nputs  a nd
a ccordi ngl y the  ba s i s  of the  va l ua Aon me thodol ogy pre fe rre d by the  Group i s  'pri ce  of mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt'. Whe re  'pri ce  of
mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt' i s  no l onge r cons i de re d to be  a ppropri a te , the  Group ha s  us e d va l ua Aons  ba s e d on di s counte d ca s h
flow me thod us i ng bus i ne s s  fore ca s ts  provi de d by the  i nve s te e  compa ny, re ve nue  mul Apl e s  of compa ra bl e  l i s te d compa ni e s
a nd compa ra bl e  tra ns a cti ons .

 
-       Price of recent investment

The  Group cons i de rs  tha t fa i r va l ue  e s Ama te s , whi ch a re  ba s e d e nAre l y on obs e rva bl e  ma rke t da ta , wi l l  be  of gre a te r re l i a bi l i ty
tha n thos e  ba s e d on a s s umpAons  a nd, a ccordi ngl y, whe re  the re  ha s  be e n a ny re ce nt i nve s tme nt by thi rd pa rAe s , the  pri ce  of
tha t i nve s tme nt wi l l  ge ne ra l l y provi de
a  ba s i s  of the  va l ua Aon. The  l e ngth of pe ri od for whi ch i t re ma i ns  a ppropri a te  to us e  the  pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt de pe nds  on
the  s pe ci fic ci rcums ta nce s  of the  i nve s tme nt a nd the  s ta bi l i ty of the  e xte rna l  e nvi ronme nt. Gi ve n the  na ture  of the  Group's
i nve s tme nts  i n e a rl y-s ta ge  compa ni e s , whe re  the re  a re  oKe n no curre nt a nd no s hort-te rm future  e a rni ngs  or pos i Ave  ca s h
flows , i t ca n be  di fficul t to ga uge  the  proba bi l i ty a nd fina nci a l  i mpa ct of the  s ucce s s  or fa i l ure  of de ve l opme nt or re s e a rch
a cAvi Ae s  a nd to ma ke  re l i a bl e  ca s h flow fore ca s ts . Cons e que ntl y, the  mos t a ppropri a te  a pproa ch to de te rmi ne  fa i r va l ue  i s  a
me thodol ogy tha t i s  ba s e d on ma rke t da ta , tha t be i ng the  pri ce  of a  re ce nt i nve s tme nt. Whe re  the  Group cons i de rs  tha t the  pri ce
of re ce nt i nve s tme nt, una djus te d, i s  no l onge r re l e va nt a nd the re  a re  l i mi te d or no compa ra bl e  compa ni e s  or tra ns a cAons  from
whi ch to i nfe r va l ue , the  Group ca rri e s  out a n e nha nce d a s s e s s me nt ba s e d on mi l e s tone  a na l ys i s  a nd/or i ndus try a nd s e ctor
a na l ys i s . In a ppl yi ng the  mi l e s tone  a na l ys i s  a pproa ch to i nve s tme nts  i n compa ni e s  i n e a rl y or de ve l opme nt s ta ge s  the  Group
s e e ks  to de te rmi ne  whe the r the re  i s  a n i ndi ca Aon of cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  ba s e d on a  cons i de ra Aon of pe rforma nce  a ga i ns t a ny
mi l e s tone s  tha t we re  s e t a t the  Ame  of the  ori gi na l  i nve s tme nt de ci s i on, a s  we l l  a s  ta ki ng i nto cons i de ra Aon the  ke y ma rke t



mi l e s tone s  tha t we re  s e t a t the  Ame  of the  ori gi na l  i nve s tme nt de ci s i on, a s  we l l  a s  ta ki ng i nto cons i de ra Aon the  ke y ma rke t
dri ve rs  of the  i nve s te e  compa ny a nd the  ove ra l l  e conomi c e nvi ronme nt.
 
Whe re  the  Group cons i de rs  tha t the re  i s  a n i ndi ca Aon tha t the  fa i r va l ue  ha s  cha nge d, a n e s Ama Aon i s  ma de  of the  re qui re d
a mount of a ny a djus tme nt from the  l a s t pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt. Whe re ve r pos s i bl e , thi s  a djus tme nt i s  ba s e d on obje cAve
da ta  from the  i nve s te e  compa ny a nd the  e xpe ri e nce  a nd judge me nt of the  Group. Howe ve r, a ny a djus tme nt i s , by i ts  ve ry na ture ,
s ubje cAve . Whe re  a  de te ri ora Aon i n va l ue  ha s  occurre d, the  Group re duce s  the  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  i nve s tme nt to re fle ct the
e s ti ma te d de cre a s e . I f the re  i s  e vi de nce  of va l ue  cre a ti on the
Group ma y cons i de r i ncre a s i ng the  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  i nve s tme nt; howe ve r, i n the  a bs e nce  of a ddi Aona l  fina nci ng rounds  or
profit ge ne ra Aon i t ca n be  di fficul t to de te rmi ne  the  va l ue  tha t a  purcha s e r ma y pl a ce  on pos i Ave  de ve l opme nts  gi ve n the
pote nAa l  outcome  a nd the  cos ts  a nd ri s ks  to a chi e vi ng tha t outcome  a nd a ccordi ngl y ca uAon i s  a ppl i e d. Fa ctors  tha t the  Group
cons i de rs  i ncl ude , i nte r a l i a , te chni ca l  me a s ure s  s uch
a s  product de ve l opme nt pha s e s  a nd pa te nt a pprova l s , fina nci a l  me a s ure s  s uch a s  ca s h burn ra te  a nd profita bi l i ty e xpe cta Aons ,
a nd ma rke t a nd s a l e s  me a s ure s  s uch a s  te s ti ng pha s e s , product l a unche s  a nd ma rke t i ntroducti on.
In the  curre nt fina nci a l  ye a r, whe re  'pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt' me thodol ogy wa s  us e d to va l ue  the  bus i ne s s , s ome  i nve s tme nts
we re  cons i de re d not to be  ma ki ng s i gni fica nt comme rci a l  progre s s  a nd whe n a  di s count wa s  a ppl i e d to re fle ct the  non-
ma rke ta bi l i ty a s s oci a te d wi th Bra ve he a rt's  l i mi te d control  of the  bus i ne s s , the  re s ul ti ng va l ua ti ons  we re  ze ro.

 
-       Other valuation techniques

If the re  i s  no re a di l y a s ce rta i na bl e  va l ue  from fol l owi ng the  'pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt' me thodol ogy, or the re  i s  obje cAve
e vi de nce  tha t a  de te ri ora Aon or s i gni fica nt i mprove me nt i n fa i r va l ue  ha s  occurre d s i nce  a  re l e va nt tra ns a cAon, the  Group
cons i de rs  a l te rna Ave  me thodol ogi e s  s uch a s  di s counte d ca s h flows  ("DCF"). DCF i nvol ve s  e s Ama Ang the  fa i r va l ue  of a  bus i ne s s
by ca l cul a Ang the  pre s e nt va l ue  of e xpe cte d future  ca s h flows , ba s e d on the  mos t re ce nt fore ca s ts  i n re s pe ct of the  unde rl yi ng
bus i ne s s . Gi ve n the  di ffi cul ty of produci ng re l i a bl e  ca s h fl ow fore ca s ts
 
for e a rl y-s ta ge  compa ni e s  a s  de s cri be d e a rl i e r, thi s  me thodol ogy i s  us e d onl y whe re  i t i s  cons i de re d the re  i s  re a s ona bl e
e vi de nce  of curre nt a nd ongoi ng i ncome  s tre a ms .
 

-       No reliable estimate
Whe re  a  fa i r va l ue  ca nnot be  e s Ama te d re l i a bl y, the  i nve s tme nt i s  re porte d a t the  ca rryi ng va l ue  a t the  pre vi ous  re porAng da te
unl e s s  the re  i s  obje cti ve  e vi de nce  tha t the  i nve s tme nt ha s  s i nce  be e n i mpa i re d.

-       Loans and receivables
Loa ns  a nd re ce i va bl e s  a re  non-de ri va Ave  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  wi th fixe d or de te rmi na bl e  pa yme nts  tha t a re  not quote d i n a n
a cAve  ma rke t, a nd compri s e  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s , othe r fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a nd ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts , a l l  of whi ch
a re  i ni Aa l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  a nd a re  s ubs e que ntl y me a s ure d a t a morAs e d cos t us i ng the  e ffe cAve  i nte re s t ra te
me thod. Thi s  me a ns  tha t, i n ca s e s  whe re  re pa yme nt of the  l oa n or othe r re ce i va bl e  i s  i n doubt, due  to the  comme rci a l
pe rforma nce  of the  re ci pi e nt, the  va l ue  of tha t l oa n ma y be  i mpa i re d to ze ro i n the  a ccounts .                                             
The y a re  i ncl ude d i n curre nt a s s e ts , e xce pt for ma turi ty gre a te r tha n 12 months  a Ke r the  e nd of the  re porAng pe ri od, whe re by
the s e  a re  cl a s s i fi e d a s  non-curre nt a s s e ts . 

-       Trade receivables
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s  a re  i ni Aa l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  whi ch i s  norma l l y the  i nvoi ce  va l ue  i n s hort te rm re ce i va bl e s . The re a Ke r
the  re ce i va bl e s  a re  ca rri e d a t a morAs e d cos t. Provi s i on i s  ma de  whe re  the re  i s  obje cAve  e vi de nce  tha t a  ba l a nce  wi l l  not be
re cove re d i n ful l  i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  i ns trume nt's  ori gi na l  te rms . An i mpa i rme nt ca l cul a Aon i s  ba s e d on a  compa ri s on
be twe e n the  ca rryi ng a mount a nd the  ne t pre s e nt va l ue  of e xpe cte d future  ca s h flows , di s counte d by the  ori gi na l  e ffe cAve  ra te .
It ca n be  concl ude d tha t a ny provi s i on ca l cul a te d woul d not ha ve  ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  due  to the
mi ni ma l  a mount of re ce i va bl e s  a nd a  forma l  pol i cy wi l l  be  i mpl e me nte d whe n ne ce s s a ry.

-       Cash and cash equivalents
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  i n the  cons ol i da te d ca s hfl ow compri s e  ca s h i n ha nd a nd s hort-te rm ba nk de pos i ts . 
 
(l) Financial liabilities
Fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i Ae s , be i ng tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s , a re  i ni Aa l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  a nd a re  s ubs e que ntl y ca rri e d a t
a morti s e d cos t.
 
(m) The Company's investment in its subsidiaries
In the  Compa ny's  a ccounts , i nve s tme nt i n i ts  s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs  a re  s ta te d a t cos t l e s s  a ny provi s i on for i mpa i rme nt.

 
(n) Equity
Fi na nci a l  i ns trume nts  i s s ue d by the  Group a re  tre a te d a s  e qui ty i f the  hol de rs  ha ve  onl y a  re s i dua l  i nte re s t i n the  Group's
a s s e ts  a Ke r de ducAng a l l  l i a bi l i Ae s . The  Group cons i de rs  i ts  ca pi ta l  to compri s e  i ts  s ha re  ca pi ta l , s ha re  pre mi um, me rge r
re s e rve  a nd re ta i ne d e a rni ngs .

·      Sha re  pre mi um - a mount s ubs cri be d for s ha re  ca pi ta l  i n e xce s s  of nomi na l  va l ue , ne t of di re ctl y a Pri buta bl e  i s s ue
cos ts ;

·      Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  - cumul a Ave  ne t ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re cogni s e d i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve
i ncome  ne t of a s s oci a te d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  cre di ts ;

·      Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve  - a mount ge ne ra te d from the  a wa rd of s ha re  opti ons  a nd wa rra nti e s .
The  Group's  ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje cti ve s  a re :

·      to e ns ure  the  Group's  a bi l i ty to conti nue  a s  a  goi ng conce rn;
·      to e ns ure  a  s uffi ci e nt ca s h ba l a nce  i s  ma i nta i ne d; a nd
·      to ma xi mi s e  re turns  to s ha re hol de rs .

The  Group conAnuous l y moni tors  rol l i ng ca s h flow fore ca s ts  to e ns ure  s uffici e nt ca s h i s  a va i l a bl e  for a nAci pa te d ca s h
re qui re me nts . The  Group ma y i s s ue  ne w s ha re s  or re a l i s e  i nve s tme nts  to me e t s uch re qui re me nts . To da te  the  Group ha s
ne gl i gi bl e  borrowi ngs  a nd doe s  not pa y a  di vi de nd. Inve s tme nts  ma de  by the  Group a re  s ubje ct to de ta i l e d s e l e cAon cri te ri a
a nd  a re  moni tore d ca re ful l y by the  Boa rd. The  group cons i de rs  tha t i t ha s  a ppropri a te l y ma na ge d i ts  ca pi ta l  re qui re me nts  duri ng
the  ye a r.
 
The re  ha s  be e n no cha nge  i n ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje cti ve s , pol i ci e s  a nd proce dure s  from the  pre vi ous  ye a r.
 
(o) Share-based payments
The  cos t of e qui ty-s e Pl e d tra ns a cAons  wi th e mpl oye e s  i s  me a s ure d by re fe re nce  to the  fa i r va l ue  of the  i ns trume nts  i s s ue d a t
the  da te  a t whi ch the y a re  gra nte d a nd i s  re cogni s e d a s  a n e xpe ns e  ove r the  ve s Ang pe ri od, whi ch e nds  on the  da te  on whi ch
the  re l e va nt e mpl oye e s  be come  ful l y e nAtl e d to the  a wa rd.  Fa i r va l ue  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng a n a ppropri a te  pri ci ng mode l .  In
va l ui ng e qui ty-s e Pl e d tra ns a cAons , no a ccount i s  ta ke n of a ny ve s Ang condi Aons , othe r tha n condi Aons  l i nke d to the  pri ce  of
the  s ha re s  of the  Compa ny (ma rke t condi ti ons ).
No e xpe ns e  i s  re cogni s e d for a wa rds  tha t do not ul Ama te l y ve s t, e xce pt for a wa rds  whe re  ve s Ang i s  condi Aona l  upon a  ma rke t
condi Aon, whi ch a re  tre a te d a s  ve s Ang i rre s pe cAve  of whe the r or not the  ma rke t condi Aon i s  s a As fie d, provi de d tha t a l l  othe r
pe rforma nce  condi ti ons  a re  s a ti s fi e d.
At e a ch re porAng da te  be fore  ve s Ang, the  cumul a Ave  e xpe ns e  i s  ca l cul a te d, re pre s e nAng the  e xte nt to whi ch the  ve s Ang pe ri od



At e a ch re porAng da te  be fore  ve s Ang, the  cumul a Ave  e xpe ns e  i s  ca l cul a te d, re pre s e nAng the  e xte nt to whi ch the  ve s Ang pe ri od
ha s  e xpi re d a nd ma na ge me nt's  be s t e s Ama te  of the  a chi e ve me nt or othe rwi s e  of non-ma rke t condi Aons  a nd of the  numbe r of
e qui ty i ns trume nts  tha t wi l l  ul Ama te l y ve s t or, i n the  ca s e  of a n i ns trume nt s ubje ct to a  ma rke t condi Aon, be  tre a te d a s  ve s Ang
a s  de s cri be d a bove .  The  move me nt i n cumul a Ave  e xpe ns e  s i nce  the  pre vi ous  re porAng da te  i s  re cogni s e d i n the  s ta te me nt of
compre he ns i ve  i ncome , wi th a  corre s pondi ng e ntry i n e qui ty.
Whe re  the  te rms  of a n e qui ty-s e Pl e d a wa rd a re  modi fie d or a  ne w a wa rd i s  de s i gna te d a s  re pl a ci ng a  ca nce l l e d or s e Pl e d
a wa rd, the  cos t ba s e d on the  ori gi na l  a wa rd te rms  conAnue s  to be  re cogni s e d ove r the  ori gi na l  ve s Ang pe ri od.  In a ddi Aon, a ny
e xpe ns e  i s  re cogni s e d ove r the  re ma i nde r of the  ne w ve s Ang pe ri od for the  i ncre me nta l  fa i r va l ue  of a ny modi fica Aon, ba s e d on
the  di ffe re nce  be twe e n the  fa i r va l ue  of the  ori gi na l  a wa rd a nd the  fa i r va l ue  of the  modi fie d a wa rd, both a s  me a s ure d on the
da te  of the  modi fi ca ti on.  No re ducti on i s  re cogni s e d i f thi s  di ffe re nce  i s  ne ga ti ve .
Whe re  a n e qui ty-s e Pl e d a wa rd i s  ca nce l l e d, i t i s  tre a te d a s  i f i t ha d ve s te d on the  da te  of ca nce l l a Aon, a nd a ny cos t not ye t
re cogni s e d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  for the  a wa rd i s  e xpe ns e d i mme di a te l y.  Any compe ns a Aon pa i d up to
the  fa i r va l ue  of the  a wa rd a t the  ca nce l l a Aon or s e Pl e me nt da te  i s  de ducte d from e qui ty, wi th a ny e xce s s  ove r fa i r va l ue  be i ng
tre a te d a s  a n e xpe ns e  i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome .
 
 (p) Pensions
The  Group ma ke s  de fine d pe ns i on contri buAons  to ce rta i n e mpl oye e s  of the  group. The  a s s e ts  of the  s che me  a re  he l d
s e pa ra te l y from thos e  of the  Group i n i nde pe nde ntl y a dmi ni s te re d funds . The  Group ha s  no furthe r obl i ga Aons  once  the
contri buti ons  ha ve  be e n pa i d. The  contri buti ons  a re  re cogni s e d a s  e mpl oye e  be ne fi ts  e xpe ns e s  whe n the y a re  due .
 
 (q) Foreign currency
Fore i gn curre ncy e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re s ul Ang from the  re me a s ure me nt of mone ta ry i te ms  de nomi na te d i n fore i gn
curre ncy a t the  ye a r-e nd e xcha nge  ra te s  a re  re cogni s e d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome . Fore i gn curre ncy tra ns a cAons
a re  tra ns l a te d i nto the  funcAona l  curre ncy us i ng the  e xcha nge  ra te s  pre va i l i ng a t the  da te s  of the  tra ns a cAons . Fore i gn
e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re s ul Ang from the  s e Pl e me nt of s uch tra ns a cAons  a nd from the  tra ns l a Aon a t ye a r-e nd e xcha nge
ra te s  of mone ta ry a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i Ae s  de nomi na te d i n fore i gn curre nci e s  a re  re cogni s e d i n the  i ncome  s ta te me nt. Fore i gn
e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  a re  pre s e nte d i n the  i ncome  s ta te me nt wi thi n 'fi na nce  i ncome  or cos ts .'
 
(r) Earnings per share
Ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  i s  ca l cul a te d by di vi di ng:

·      the  profi t a ttri buta bl e  to owne rs  of the  compa ny, e xcl udi ng a ny cos ts  of s e rvi ci ng e qui ty othe r tha n ordi na ry s ha re s ;
·      by the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng duri ng the  fina nci a l  ye a r, a djus te d for bonus  e l e me nts

i n ordi na ry s ha re s  i s s ue d duri ng the  ye a r a nd e xcl udi ng tre a s ury s ha re s  (note  18).
Di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  a djus ts  the  fi gure s  us e d i n the  de te rmi na ti on of ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  to ta ke  i nto a ccount:

·      the  a fte r-i ncome  ta x e ffe ct of i nte re s t a nd othe r fi na nci ng cos ts  a s s oci a te d wi th di l uti ve  pote nti a l  ordi na ry s ha re s ; a nd
·      the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of a ddi Aona l  ordi na ry s ha re s  tha t woul d ha ve  be e n outs ta ndi ng, a s s umi ng the

conve rs i on of a l l  di l uti ve  pote nti a l  ordi na ry s ha re s .
(s) Segmental Reporting
The  boa rd onl y cons i de rs  the re  to be  one  s e gme nt i n the  group a nd the re fore  the re  i s  no note  i ncl ude d for s e gme nta l  re porti ng.
 
3 Revenue from contracts with customers
Re ve nue  i s  a ttri buta bl e  to the  pri nci pa l  a cti vi ti e s  of the  Group. In 2025 a nd 2024, a l l  re ve nue  a ros e  wi thi n the  Uni te d Ki ngdom.

   
 Group

2025
Group

2024
 £ £

Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 16,900 40,000
Moni tori ng fe e s 3,600 3,600
Cons ul ta ncy - 17,296

20,500 60,896

 
Of the  re ve nue  s ta te d a bove , £16,900 (2024: £20,770) re l a te d to The  La che s i s  Se e d Fund Li mi te d Pa rtne rs hi p.
The  group de ri ve s  re ve nue  from the  tra ns fe r of goods  a nd s e rvi ce s  ove r Ame  a nd a t a  poi nt i n Ame  i n the  fol l owi ng ma jor
product l i ne s :
 Investment

management
Monitoring
fee Consultancy Total

2025      
      

Ti mi ng of re ve nue
re cogni ti on

     

At a  poi nt i n ti me -  3,600 - 3,600

Ove r ti me 16,900  - - 16,900

 16,900  3,600 - 20,500

2024      

      

Ti mi ng of re ve nue
re cogni ti on

     

At a  poi nt i n ti me   3,600 - 3,600

Ove r ti me 40,000  - 17,296 57,296

 40,000  3,600 17,296 60,896

 
 
4 Finance income

   
Group

 
Group

   2025 2024
   £ £
Ba nk i nte re s t re ce i va bl e 36,491 16,896

36,491 16,896

 



 
5 Employee benefits expense

    
Company

2025
Company

2024
Group

2025
Group

2024
£ £ £ £

Sa l a ri e s 294,678 427,451 294,678 427,451
Soci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 15,644 32,018 15,644 32,018
Pe ns i on cos ts 4,015 7,780 4,015 7,780
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 21,079 126,985 21,079 126,985

335,416 594,234 335,416 594,234

 
The  a ve ra ge  numbe r of pe rs ons  (i ncl udi ng di re ctors ) e mpl oye d by the  Group duri ng the  ye a r wa s  5 (2024: 5), a l l  of whom we re
i nvol ve d i n ma na ge me nt a nd a dmi ni s tra Ave  a cAvi Ae s . The  a ve ra ge  numbe r of pe rs ons  (i ncl udi ng di re ctors ) e mpl oye d by the
compa ny duri ng the  ye a r wa s  4 (2024: 4) The  re mune ra ti on of the  di re ctors , i s  s e t out be l ow i n a ggre ga te :

     
2025

 
2024

    £ £
Short-te rm e mpl oye e  be ne fi ts 274,414 347,452
Soci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 13,162 22,232

287,576 369,684

Pos t-e mpl oyme nt be ne fi t 3,407 5,380
Sha re -ba s e d pa yme nts 18,246 126,985

309,229 502,049

 
The  figure s  i n thi s  note  i ncl ude s  s oci a l  s e curi ty cos ts . Furthe r i nforma Aon a bout the  re mune ra Aon of i ndi vi dua l  di re ctors  i s
provi de d i n the  Di re ctors ' Re mune ra ti on Re port.
Re mune ra ti on to the  hi ghe s t pa i d di re ctor wa s  £118,437 (2024: £148,521). Thi s  fi gure  e xcl ude s  s oci a l  s e curi ty cos ts . 

6 Finance costs
   
 Group Group

 2025 2024
 £ £

Ba nk cha rge s 2,971 2,795

 
7 Expenses by nature

   
 Group Group

The  fol l owi ng ha ve  be e n cha rge d i n a rri vi ng a t ope ra ti ng l os s :
2025 2024

 £ £
De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on             108 310
Audi tor's  re mune ra ti on:
Audi t s e rvi ce s
   - Fe e s  pa ya bl e  for the  a udi t of the  cons ol i da ti on a nd the  pa re nt compa ny a ccounts 30,000 63,450
Le ga l , profe s s i ona l  a nd cons ul ta ncy cos ts 42,407 42,986
Stockbroke r cos ts 76,306 65,525
Othe r e xpe ns e s 102,278 106,581
Tota l 251,099 278,852

 
8 Tax on profit on ordinary activities
 
No l i a bi l i ty to UK corpora Aon ta x a ros e  on ordi na ry a cAvi Ae s  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2025 or for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch
2024.
 

    
  Group Group
  2025 2024
Reconciliation of total tax:  £ £
(Los s )/ profi t be fore  ta x (1,088,901) (8,193,316)

Ta x a t the  s ta tutory ra te  of 25% (2024: 25%) (272,225) (2,048,329)
Di s a l l owe d e xpe ns e s 37,904 431,762
Ca pi ta l  a l l owa nce s  i n e xce s s  of de pre ci a ti on 27 78
Unre a l i s e d l os s / (ga i n) on the  fa i r va l ue  move me nt of
i nve s tme nts 108,130 1,468,112
Sha re  s che me  de ducti on - -
Othe r non-re ve rs i ng ti mi ng di ffe re nce s - (944,050)
Ta x l os s e s  ca rri e d forwa rd 126,164 148,377
Total tax reported in the statement of comprehensive income - (944,050)

 

  The  Group ha s  pote nti a l  cumul a ti ve  unre cogni s e d de fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  i n re s pe ct of:
·      e xce s s  ma na ge me nt e xpe ns e s  of £1,951,892 (2024: £1,430,874) a nd ca pi ta l  l os s e s  of £47,752 (2024: £Ni l ) a ri s i ng from



·      e xce s s  ma na ge me nt e xpe ns e s  of £1,951,892 (2024: £1,430,874) a nd ca pi ta l  l os s e s  of £47,752 (2024: £Ni l ) a ri s i ng from
Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c; a nd

·      e xce s s  ma na ge me nt e xpe ns e s  of £558,948 (2024: £559,199) a ri s i ng from True ti de  Li mi te d.

·      e xce s s  tra di ng l os s  of £9,144 (2024: £12,564) a ri s i ng from The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d.
 

 
No de fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  ha ve  be e n re cogni s e d i n re s pe ct of the s e  a mounts  a s  i t i s  unce rta i n tha t the re  wi l l  be  s ui ta bl e  ta xa bl e
profi ts  from whi ch the  future  re ve rs a l  of the  de fe rre d ta x coul d be  de ducte d.
 
9 Earnings per share
Ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  ha s  be e n ca l cul a te d by di vi di ng the  profit a Pri buta bl e  to e qui ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt by the  we i ghte d
a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue  duri ng the  ye a r.
The  ca l cul a ti ons  of profi t pe r s ha re  a re  ba s e d on the  fol l owi ng profi t a nd numbe rs  of s ha re s  i n i s s ue :

   2025   2024
£ £

(Los s )/ profi t for the  ye a r (1,088,901) (7,249,266)

We i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue : No. No.
For ba s i c profi t pe r ordi na ry s ha re 63,723,489 63,723,489
Pote nti a l l y di l uti ve  ordi na ry s ha re s - -
For di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r ordi na ry s ha re 63,723,489 63,723,489

 
Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re Pence Pence
- ba s i c (1.71) (11.38)
- di l ute d (1.71) (11.38)

 
Di l uAve  e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  a djus ts  for s ha re  opAons  gra nte d whe re  the  e xe rci s e  pri ce  i s  l e s s  tha n the  a ve ra ge  pri ce  of the
ordi na ry s ha re s  duri ng the  pe ri od.  At the  curre nt ye a r e nd the re  we re  Ni l  (2024: Ni l ) pote nti a l l y di l uti ve  ordi na ry s ha re s .
The  di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r Ordi na ry Sha re  i s  ca l cul a te d by a djus Ang the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of Ordi na ry s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng
to cons i de r the  i mpa ct of opti ons , wa rra nts  a nd othe r di l uti ve  s e curi ti e s .
 
10 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Le ve l  1 Le ve l  2 Le ve l  3

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts

i n quote d
compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s Tota l

GROUP £ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 April 2023 2,011,877 - - 7,446,447 - 9,458,324

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 382,516 - - 150,000 - 532,516

Di s pos a l s  a t Cos t (296,384) - - (912,272) - (1,208,656)

Amount owe d to cre di tors - - - (24,201) - (24,201)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (483,914) - - (1,773,379) - (2,257,293)

Impa i rme nt - - - (4,847,349) - (4,847,349)

At 31 March 2024 1,614,095 - - 39,246 - 1,653,341

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 1,190,980 - - 22,500 - 1,213,480

Di s pos a l s  a t Cos t (187,079) - - - - (187,079)

Amount owe d to cre di tors - - - (9) - (9)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (374,311) - - (34,370) - (408,681)

Impa i rme nt - - - - - -

At 31 March 2025 2,243,685 - - 27,367 - 2,271,052

 
Incl ude d i n the  ba l a nce  a bove  a re  i nve s tme nts  tha t woul d be  owe d to the  Bri As h Bus i ne s s  Ba nk through the  Re ve nue  Sha re
Agre e me nt. At the  ye a r e nd, a n a mount of £32 woul d be  due  to the  Bri As h Bus i ne s s  Ba nk on di s pos a l . Thi s  l i a bi l i ty i s  s hown i n
the  a ccounts  wi thi n othe r cre di tors .
 

Le ve l  1 Le ve l  2 Le ve l  3

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts

i n quote d
compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s Tota l

COMPANY £ £ £ £ £ £

At 31 March 2023 2,011,877 - - 7,411,605 - 9,423,482

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 382,516 - - 150,000 - 532,516

Di s pos a l  a t Cos t (296,384) - - (912,272) - (1,208,656)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (483,914) - - (1,762,756) - (2,246,670)

Impa i rme nt - - - (4,847,349) - (4,847,349)

At 31 March 2024 1,614,095 - - 39,228 - 1,653,323

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 1,190,980 - - 22,500 - 1,213,480

Di s pos a l  a t Cos t (187,079) - - (51) - (187,130)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (374,356) - - (34,321) - (408,677)



Impa i rme nt - - - - - -

At 31 March 2025 2,243,640 - - 27,356 - 2,270,996

 
As  a t 31 Ma rch 2025, the  group tota l  va l ue  of i nve s tme nts  i n compa ni e s  wa s  £2,271,052 (2024: £1,653,341).
The  group tota l  cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  duri ng the  ye a r wa s  a  l os s  of £408,681 (2024: l os s  £2,257,293). The re  we re  i mpa i rme nts  to
i nve s tme nts  i n the  ye a r of £Ni l  (2024: £4,847,349).
The  s ha re s  tha t we re  di s pos e d of ha s  a  book va l ue  of £187,079 a nd we re  s ol d for £163,287, re s ul ti ng i n a  l os s  of £23,792.
Inve s tme nts , whi ch i s  ma de  up of e qui ty i nve s tme nts , a re  de s i gna te d on i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon a s  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue
through profi t or l os s . Thi s  me a s ure me nt ba s i s  i s  cons i s te nt wi th the  fa ct tha t the  Group's  pe rforma nce  i n re s pe ct of i ts  portfol i o
i nve s tme nts  i s  e va l ua te d on a  fa i r va l ue  ba s i s  i n a ccorda nce  wi th a n e s ta bl i s he d i nve s tme nt s tra te gy. Whe n i nve s tme nts  a re
re cogni s e d i ni ti a l l y, the y a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue .
 
AKe r i ni Aa l  re cogni Aon the  fa i r va l ue  of l i s te d i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d by re fe re nce  to bi d pri ce s  a t the  cl os e  of bus i ne s s  on
the  re porAng da te . Unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue  by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of
the  Inte rna Aona l  Pri va te  Equi ty a nd Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  Gui de l i ne s , upda te d a nd e ffe cAve  De ce mbe r 2022, a s  re comme nde d by the
Europe a n Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  As s oci a Aon. The  fa i r va l ue  of unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng the  mos t a ppropri a te
of the  va l ua Aon me thodol ogi e s  s e t out i n the  gui de l i ne s . The s e  i ncl ude  us i ng re ce nt a rm's  l e ngth ma rke t tra ns a cAons ;
re fe re nce  to the  curre nt ma rke t va l ue  of a nothe r i ns trume nt, whi ch i s  s ubs ta nAa l l y the  s a me ; e a rni ngs  or profit mul Apl e s ;
i ndi ca ti ve  offe rs ; di s counte d ca s h fl ow a na l ys i s  a nd pri ci ng mode l s .
The  Group cl a s s i fi e s  i ts  i nve s tme nts  us i ng a  fa i r va l ue  hi e ra rchy. Cl a s s i fi ca ti on wi thi n the  hi e ra rchy ha s  be e n de te rmi ne d on the
ba s i s  of the  l owe s t l e ve l  i nput tha t i s  s i gni fi ca nt to the  fa i r va l ue  me a s ure me nt of the  re l e va nt i nve s tme nt a s  fol l ows :

·      Le ve l  1 - va l ue d us i ng quote d pri ce s  i n a cti ve  ma rke ts  for i de nti ca l  a s s e ts ;
·      Le ve l  2 - va l ue d by re fe re nce  to va l ua Aon te chni que s  us i ng obs e rva bl e  i nputs  othe r tha n quote d pri ce s  i ncl ude d wi thi n

Le ve l  1; a nd
·      Le ve l  3 - va l ue d by re fe re nce  to va l ua ti on te chni que s  us i ng i nputs  tha t a re  not ba s e d on obs e rva bl e  ma rke t da ta .

The  fa i r va l ue s  of quote d i nve s tme nts  a re  ba s e d on bi d pri ce s  i n a n a cAve  ma rke t a t the  re porAng da te . Al l  unquote d
i nve s tme nts  ha ve  be e n cl a s s i fie d a s  Le ve l  3 wi thi n the  fa i r va l ue  hi e ra rchy, the i r re s pe cAve  va l ua Aons  ha vi ng be e n ca l cul a te d
us i ng a  numbe r of va l ua Aon te chni que s  a nd a s s umpAons , notwi ths ta ndi ng tha t the  ba s i s  of the  va l ua Aon me thodol ogy
pre fe rre d by the  Group i s  'pri ce  of mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt'.  To re fl e ct the  pote nti a l  i mpa ct of a l te rna ti ve  a s s umpti ons  a nd a  l a ck
of l i qui di ty i n the s e  hol di ngs , a  di s count ha s  be e n a ppl i e d to a l l  Le ve l  3 va l ua Aons .  Whe n us i ng the  DCF va l ua Aon me thod,
re a s ona bl y pos s i bl e  a l te rna ti ve  a s s umpti ons  coul d ha ve  a  ma te ri a l  e ffe ct on the  fa i r va l ua ti on of i nve s tme nts .
 
The  me thodol ogi e s  us e d i n the  ye a r for l e ve l  3 i nve s tme nts  a re  broke n down a s  fol l ows :

Me thodol ogy De s cri pti on Inputs Adjus tme nts

 % of porOol i o
va l ue d on thi s
ba s i s

Fund Ra i s i ng Us e d for unquote d
i nve s tme nts  whe re  the re
ha s  be e n a  fundi ng round,
ge ne ra l l y wi thi n the  l a s t
twe l ve  months

The  pri ce  of the  mos t
re ce nt i nve s tme nt

A l i qui di ty di s count i s  a ppl i e d,
typi ca l l y 15%. Whe re  l a s t
fundi ng round i s  gre a te r tha n
twe l ve  months  the n furthe r
di s counts  ra ngi ng be twe e n 0%
a nd 100% a re  a ppl i e d.

100%

De bt/Loa n
note s

Loa n i nve s tme nts The  fa i r va l ue  of de bt
i nve s tme nt i s  de e me d to
be  cos t l e s s  a ny
i mpa i rme nt provi s i on

Impa i rme nt provi s i on i f de e me d
ne ce s s a ry

0%

Di s counte d
ca s h flow
a nd re ve nue
mul ti pl e s

Us e d for compa ni e s  wi th
l ong-te rm ca s h flows  a nd
ha vi ng compa ra bl e
tra ns a cAons / compa ni e s  i n
the  l i s te d s e gme nt

Long te rm ca s h flows  a re
di s counte d a t a  ra te
cons i de re d a ppropri a te  for
the  bus i ne s s , typi ca l l y 25%.
Re ve nue  mul Apl e s  a re
typi ca l l y 5 to 10 Ame s  of
forwa rd-l ooki ng re ve nue .

A l i qui di ty di s count i s  a ppl i e d,
typi ca l l y 20%

0.0%

 
Cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  i n the  ye a r:

  
Group

2025

 
Group

2024
 

 £ £  
Fa i r va l ue  ga i ns  161,890 131,150  
Fa i r va l ue  l os s e s  (570,571) (2,388,443)  

 (408,681) (2,257,293)  
The  ga i n i n the  ye a r ca me  from the  upl i K of the  va l ua Aon i n Ima ge  Sca n (£34,000) Bui l t Cybe rne Acs  (£123,000) a nd Gyrome tri c
(£5,000). The  ma i n re a s ons  for the  fa i r va l ue  l os s e s  we re  due  to the  re ducAon i n va l ue  i n AuAns  (£314,000), Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs
(£217,000) a nd Di me ns i ona l  Ima gi ng (£39,000).
De ta i l s  of i nve s tme nts  whe re  the  nomi na l  va l ue  of the  hol di ng i n the  unde rta ki ng i s  20% or more  of a ny cl a s s  of s ha re  a re  a s
fol l ows :

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  100% a ggre ga te  hol di ng i n Pa ra yte c Li mi te d, whi ch de ve l ops  hi gh pe rforma nce  s pe ci a l i s t de te ctors  for the

a na l yti ca l  a nd l i fe  s ci e nce s  i ns trume nta ti on ma rke t. The  va l ua ti on of Pa ra yte c ha s  be e n re vi e we d a nd, for the  re a s ons  a re

de ta i l e d i n the  CEO s ta te me nt the  va l ua ti on of Bra ve he a rt's  i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n i mpa i re d to ze ro. The  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d

on the  boa rd. The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Pa ra yte c £Ni l  (2024: £Ni l ). 

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  86% a ggre ga te  hol di ng i n Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d, a  bi ote chnol ogy compa ny whi ch de ve l ope d a  s ys te m of

i nte rconne cte d cha mbe rs  for ce l l  a nd ti s s ue  cul ture  i n l a bora tori e s . The  va l ua ti on of Ki rks ta l l  ha s  be e n re vi e we d a nd, for the

re a s ons  a re  de ta i l e d i n the  CEO s ta te me nt the  va l ua ti on of Bra ve he a rt's  i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n i mpa i re d to ze ro. The  Compa ny i s

re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd. The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Ki rks ta l l  i s  £Ni l  (2024: £Ni l ). 

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  29.09% a ggre ga te  hol di ng on AuAns  Group pl c,  thi s  compa ny a n i ndus try-l e a di ng de s i gne r, ma nufa cture r,
a nd s uppl i e r of a cous Ac a nd the rma l  i ns ul a Aon s ol uAons  for the  a utomoAve  i ndus try a nd othe r s e ctors . The  Compa ny i s
re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd a nd i n the  opi ni on of the  di re ctors , thi s  s ha re hol di ng nor the  re pre s e nta Ave  e nAtl e s  the  Compa ny to
e xe rt a  s i gni fi ca nt or domi na nt i nfl ue nce  ove r Auti ns . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Auti ns  i s  £1,111,880 (2024: £1,177,650).

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  29.35% a ggre ga te  hol di ng on Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs  Li mi te d (pre vi ous l y IQ-AI Li mi te d), thi s  compa ny i s  a n
i ma gi ng s oKwa re  a nd he a l thca re  di a gnos Acs  compa ny . The  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd a nd i n the  opi ni on of the
di re ctors , thi s  s ha re hol di ng nor the  re pre s e nta Ave  e nAtl e s  the  Compa ny to e xe rt a  s i gni fica nt or domi na nt i nflue nce  ove r
Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs  i s  £572,085 (2024: £Ni l ).



Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Ima gi ng Bi ome tri cs  i s  £572,085 (2024: £Ni l ).
 

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  38% a ggre ga te  hol di ng on Se nAne l  Me di ca l  Li mi te d,  thi s  compa ny i s  de ve l opi ng a  poi nt of ca re  di a gnos Ac
de vi ce  for bl a dde r ca nce r de te cAon a nd moni tori ng . The  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd a nd i n the  opi ni on of the
di re ctors , thi s  s ha re hol di ng nor the  re pre s e nta Ave  e nAtl e s  the  Compa ny to e xe rt a  s i gni fica nt or domi na nt i nflue nce  ove r
Se nti ne l . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Se nti ne l  i s  £33 (2024: £33).   
 
The  re gi s te re d a ddre s s e s  for the s e  e nti ti e s  a re  a s  fol l ows :

Pa ra yte c Li mi te d                          Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70 2SB

Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d                           Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70 2SB

Se nti ne l  Me di ca l  Li mi te d             Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70 2SB
 
11 Investment in subsidiaries
The  Compa ny ha s  the  fol l owi ng i nte re s ts  i n s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

Na me
Country of
Incorpora ti on Na ture  of Bus i ne s s

%
Inte re s t

True ti de  Li mi te d  (i) Scotl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng GP Li mi te d  (i) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d  (i) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d  (ii) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%
Pa ra yte c Li mi te d (iii) Engl a nd De ve l opme nt of hi gh

pe rforma nce  s pe ci a l i s t
de te ctors

100%

Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d (iii) Engl a nd Bi ote chnol ogy 86%
 
(i) Direct subsidiary of Braveheart Investment Group plc
(ii) Indirect subsidiary of Braveheart Investment Group plc
(iii) Not consolidated

 
 
Group e nti ti e s  a ct a s  Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne r to, a nd ha ve  a n i nte re s t i n, the  fol l owi ng l i mi te d pa rtne rs hi ps :

Na me
Pl a ce  of
Bus i ne s s

%
Inte re s t

La che s i s  Se e d Fund Engl a nd 0%
 
The  re gi s te re d a ddre s s e s  for the  s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs  a re  a s  fol l ows :
True ti de  Li mi te d                                                                                    1 Ge orge  Squa re , Gl a s gow, Scotl a nd, G2 1AL
Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng GP Li mi te d                                  Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70
2SB
Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d                                                                      Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70
2SB
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d                     Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70
2SB
Pa ra yte c Li mi te d                                                                                   Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70 2SB
Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d                                                                                    Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, Engl a nd, S70 2SB
 
12 Property, plant and equipment
GROUP Furniture,

fittings and
equipment

Total

£ £
Cost - At 31 March 2023 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2024 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2025 1,135 1,135
Depreciation - At 31 March 2023 717 717
De pre ci a ti on 310 310
Depreciation - 31 March 2024 1,027 1,027
De pre ci a ti on 108 108
Depreciation - 31 March 2025 1,135 1,135
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2025 - -
 
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2024 108 108
 
COMPANY  Furniture,

fittings and
equipment

Total

 £ £
Cost - At 31 March 2023  1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2024 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2025  1,135 1,135
Depreciation - 31 March 2023 717 717
De pre ci a ti on 310 310
Depreciation - 31 March 2024  1,027 1,027



Depreciation - 31 March 2024  1,027 1,027
De pre ci a ti on 108 108
Depreciation - 31 March 2025  1,135 1,135
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2025  - -
 
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2024  108 108
 
13 Debtors due in over one year

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2025 2024 2025 2024

£ £ £ £
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - -

- -
 

The  Boa rd ha s  concl ude d tha t Pa ra yte c's  a nd Ki rks ta l l 's  s hort-te rm  pros pe cts  ha ve  i mprove d, howe ve r i t be l i e ve s  tha t
Bra ve he a rt's  outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Pa ra yte c a nd Ki rks ta l l  wi l l  not be  re pa i d i n  the  s hort-te rm. A de ci s i on ha s  the re fore  be e n
ma de  to conAnue  to wri te  down the  va l ue  of  the  Compa ny's  l oa ns  re ce i va bl e  i n Pa ra yte c a nd Ki rks ta l l  to £Ni l . Thi s  ha s  re s ul te d
i n a n i mpa i rme nt i n l oa ns  i n the  ye a r of £123,933 (2024: £1,594,620).
 
14 Trade and other receivables

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2025 2024 2025 2024

£ £ £ £
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 33,339 31,899 - -
Pre pa yme nts  a nd a ccrue d i ncome 19,251 73,808 19,251 73,808
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s - - 3,531 5,331
Othe r ta xe s  a nd s oci a l  s e curi ty 332 - 1,039 -

52,922 105,707 23,821 79,139

As  tra de  re ce i va bl e s  a re  ge ne ra l l y of s hort-te rm ma turi ty, the  di re ctors  cons i de r the  ca rryi ng a mounts  to a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r
va l ue . Al l  re ce i va bl e s  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng a nd uns e cure d. 

 
15 Cash and cash equivalents

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2025 2024 2025 2024

£ £ £ £
Ca s h a t ba nk a nd on ha nd 63,671 1,742,315 58,321 1,736,428

Ca s h ba l a nce s  a re  he l d wi th HSBC Ba nk pl c a nd e a rn i nte re s t a t fl oa ti ng ra te s  ba s e d on da i l y ba nk de pos i t ra te s .

 
16 Trade and other payables

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2025 2024 2025 2024

£ £ £ £
Tra de  pa ya bl e s 7,937 8,862 7,937 8,862
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s - - 168,908 168,968
Othe r ta xe s  a nd s oci a l  s e curi ty 3,220 15,061 3,220 13,994
Accrua l s  a nd othe r cre di tors 46,984 80,222 40,749 73,977

58,141 104,145 220,814 265,801

 
Due  to the  s hort-te rm ma turi ty of tra de  pa ya bl e s , the  di re ctors  cons i de r the  ca rryi ng a mounts  to a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r va l ue .
Tra de  pa ya bl e s  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng a nd a re  norma l l y s e ttl e d on 30-da y te rms .
 
17 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and movements thereon:
 

Balances Group Group Company Company
 2025 2024 2025 2024

£ £ £ £
Non-curre nt a s s e t i nve s tme nt ti mi ng di ffe re nce s - - - -

- - - -

 
Movements in the year

   Group Company
£ £

Li a bi l i ty a t 1 Apri l  2024 - -



Li a bi l i ty a t 1 Apri l  2024 - -
Cha rge  to profi t a nd l os s - -
Li a bi l i ty a t 31 Ma rch 2024 - -

 
Al l  de fe rre d ta x l i a bi l i ti e s  wi l l  be  s e ttl e d, i n gre a te r tha n one  ye a r.
 
18 Share capital

2025 2024
 £ £
Authori s e d
83,723,489 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch
(2024: 68,674,431 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch) 1,674,470 1,674,470

   
Al l otte d, ca l l e d up a nd ful l y pa i d
63,723,489 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch
(2024: 63,723,489 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch) 1,274,469 1,274,469

The  Compa ny ha s  one  cl a s s  of ordi na ry s ha re s . Al l  s ha re s  ca rry e qua l  voAng ri ghts , e qua l  ri ghts  to i ncome  a nd di s tri buAon of
a s s e ts  on l i qui da ti on or othe rwi s e , a nd no ri ght to fi xe d i ncome . 
Reconciliation of movements during the year

 
Share Premium

Share
Capital

At 1 April 2024 5,370,711 1,274,469
I s s ue  of ful l y pa i d s ha re s - -
Cos t of s ha re s  i s s ue d - -
At 31 March 2025  5,370,711 1,274,469

 
Reconciliation of share movements during the year

At 1 April 2024 63,723,489 63,723,489
I s s ue  of ful l y pa i d s ha re s - -
At 31 March 2025  63,723,489 63,723,489

 
19 Share-based payments          
Share Option Scheme
On 17 De ce mbe r 2020, the  compa ny cre a te d a  s ha re  s che me  i n orde r to provi de  a  l ong te rm i nce nAve  pl a n for the  di re ctors ,
e mpl oye e s  a nd cons ul ta nts  of the  group "the  Sha re  Opti on Pl a n".
2020 Award
On 17 De ce mbe r 2020 a  numbe r of di re ctors , e mpl oye e s  a nd cons ul ta nts  we re  a wa rde d 2,350,000 s ha re s  a t a n e xe rci s e  pri ce  of
£0.17. The re  we re  no condi Aons  a Pa che d to the s e  a nd the y e xpi re  10 ye a rs  from the  da te  of gra nt. The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s
worke d out on the  Bl a ck Schol e s  mode l . The  fol l owi ng i nforma Aon i s  re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na Aon of the  fa i r va l ue  of opAons
gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
Gra nt da te                                                               17/12/2020
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  2,350,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.17
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.17
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  171.74%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           0.40%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1.5 ye a rs
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2025 wa s  £Ni l  (2024: £Ni l ).
 
2021 Award
On 13 Octobe r 2021 two di re ctors  we re  a wa rde d 3,500,000 s ha re s  a t a n e xe rci s e  pri ce  of £0.315. The  opAons  ve s t on 14 Octobe r
2022 a nd a re  e xe rci s a bl e  up to 14 Octobe r 2031.  The  opAons  a re  a l s o s ubje ct to pe rforma nce  cri te ri a  unde r whi ch the  opAons
ca n onl y be  e xe rci s e d i f the  a ve ra ge  s ha re  pri ce  ove r a  30 cons e cuAve  ca l e nda r da y pe ri od ha s  be e n 20 pe r ce nt. hi ghe r tha n the
opAon e xe rci s e  pri ce .  The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s  worke d out on the  Monte  Ca rl o mode l . The  fol l owi ng i nforma Aon i s
re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na ti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
Gra nt da te                                                               14/10/2021
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  3,500,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.315
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.315
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  69.27%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           0.372%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1 ye a r
 
On 9 Ma y 2022, 1,500,000 we re  ca nce l l e d a nd re pl a ce d wi th s ha re s  unde r ne w condi Aons .  The  e xe rci s e  pri ce  of the  Ne w OpAons
i s  14p, be i ng the  cl os i ng mi d-ma rke t pri ce  of a n Ordi na ry Sha re  on 6 Ma y 2022, the  l a te s t pra cAca bl e  da te  pri or to the  da te  of
gra nt. The  Ne w OpAons  wi l l  ve s t from 9 Ma y 2023 a nd be  e xe rci s a bl e  up to 9 Ma y 2032, s ubje ct to conAnue d e mpl oyme nt a nd a n
a ddi Aona l  pe rforma nce  re l a te d cri te ri a  tha t the  cl os i ng pri ce  of a n Ordi na ry Sha re  mus t e xce e d 31.5p, be i ng the  e xe rci s e  pri ce  of
the  Hi s tori c OpAons , for 10 da ys  wi thi n a ny pe ri od of 30 da ys . The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s  worke d out unde r the  Monte  Ca rl o
mode l  a nd di dn't re s ul t i n a  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge . On 3 Fe brua ry 2025, the  re ma i nde r of the s e  s ha re s  (2,976,192 s ha re s )
we re  ca nce l l e d.



we re  ca nce l l e d.
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2025 wa s  £Ni l  (2024: £81,289).
 
2023 Award
On 27 Ma rch 2023, a  furthe r 2,500,000 we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs  a nd coul d be  ve s te d ove r the  ne xt 12 months , once
ce rta i n pe rforma nce  cri te ri a  we re  me t. As  the s e  we re  ma rke t re l a te d, the  Monte  Ca rl o mode l  wa s  us e d. A furthe r 450,000 s ha re s
we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs  a nd one  othe r pe rs on not on the  boa rd. The re  we re  no pe rforma nce  condi Aons  a Pa che d to
the s e  opti ons .
The  fol l owi ng i nforma ti on i s  re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na ti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
                                                                                Opti ons  wi th condi ti ons                          Opti ons  wi thout condi ti ons
Gra nt da te                                                               27/03/2023                                             27/03/2023
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  2,500,000                                                450,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.078                                                     £0.078
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.078                                                     £0.078
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -                                                               -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  50.91%                                                    50.91%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           5.10%                                                      5.10%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs                                                   10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1.5 ye a rs                                                  1.5 ye a rs
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2025 wa s  £Ni l  (2024: £45,696)
 
2024 Award
On 15 Jul y 2024, a  furthe r 2,500,000 we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs  a nd coul d be  ve s te d ove r the  ne xt 12 months , once
ce rta i n pe rforma nce  cri te ri a  we re  me t. As  the s e  we re  ma rke t re l a te d, the  Monte  Ca rl o mode l  wa s  us e d. A furthe r 600,000 s ha re s
we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs , one  e mpl oye e  a nd one  s e rvi ce  provi de r. The re  we re  no pe rforma nce  condi Aons  a Pa che d to
the s e  opti ons .
The  fol l owi ng i nforma ti on i s  re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na ti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
                                                                                Opti ons  wi th condi ti ons                                          Opti ons  wi thout condi ti ons                    
Gra nt da te                                                               15/07/2024                                                             15/07/2024
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  2,500,000                                                                600,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.045                                                                     £0.045
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.045/£0.0065                                                      £0.045
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -                                                                               -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  136.56%                                                                  135.56%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           5.24%                                                                      5.24%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs                                                                   10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         5 ye a rs                                                                     5 ye a rs
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2025 wa s  £21,079 (2024: £Ni l )
 
The  tota l  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for a l l  s che me s  i n the  ye a r wa s  £21,079 (2024: £126,985)
 
Share Options arising from the New Scheme
The  curre nt ye a r move me nt i n Sha re  Opti ons  i s  s umma ri s e d be l ow:

Da te  of Gra nt

At 1
Apri l
 2024

No of
Opti ons
gra nte d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons

e xe rci s e d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons

l a ps e d i n
ye a r

At 31
Ma rch

2025
Exe rci s e

Pri ce
Da te  fi rs t

e xe rci s a bl e Expi ry da te
Employment Options granted

17 De c 2020 1,096,000 - - - 1,096,000 £0.17 17 De c 2020 16 De c 2030
14 Oct 2021 2,976,192 - - (2,976,192) - £0.315 14 Oct 2022 14 Oct 2031

27 Ma r 2023 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2024 27 Ma r 2033
27 Ma r 2023 50,000 - - - 50,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2023 27 Ma r 2033

15 Jul  2024 - 2,266,667 - - 2,266,667 £0.045 15 Jul  2025 15 Jul  2034
15 Jul  2024 - 833,333 - - 833,333 £0.065 15 Jul  2025 15 Jul  2034

7,022,192 3,100,000 - (2,976,192) 7,146,000
The  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  pri ce  wa s  £0.08 (2024: £0.19). At the  ye a r e nd, the  numbe r of e xe rci s a bl e  s ha re s  we re  7,146,000 (2024:
7,022,192) wi th a  we i ghte d l i fe  of 8.21 ye a rs  (2024: 8.02 ye a rs ).
The  pre vi ous  ye a r move me nt i n Sha re  Opti ons  i s  s umma ri s e d be l ow:

Da te  of
Gra nt

At 1
Apri l
 2023

No of
Opti ons
gra nte d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons

e xe rci s e d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons
l a ps e d
i n ye a r

At 31
Ma rch

2024
Exe rci s e

Pri ce
Da te  fi rs t

e xe rci s a bl e Expi ry da te
Employment Options granted

17 De c 2020 1,096,000 - - - 1,096,000 £0.17 17 De c 2020 16 De c 2030
14 Oct 2021 2,976,192 - - - 2,976,192 £0.315 14 Oct 2022 14 Oct 2031

27 Ma r 2023 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2024 27 Ma r 2033
27 Ma r 2023 50,000 - - - 50,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2023 27 Ma r 2033

7,022,192 - - - 7,022,192

 
The  cha rge  ma de  i n re s pe ct of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d wa s :

   2025  2024
  £ £

Expe ns e  a ri s i ng from e qui ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  tra ns a cti ons 21,079 126,985



Expe ns e  a ri s i ng from e qui ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  tra ns a cti ons 21,079 126,985

 

                                                               
20 Related party disclosures
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s  (note  14) i ncl ude  the  fol l owi ng a mounts  due  from s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

 
 

 
2025

£

 
 2024

£
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d - -
Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng 3,531 5,331

3,531 5,331

 
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s  (note  16) i ncl ude  the  fol l owi ng a mounts  due  to s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

 
 

 2025
£

 2024
£

Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d 119,412 119,412
True ti de  Li mi te d 15,000 15,000
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny
Li mi te d

34,496 34,496

Combrook Hol di ngs  Li mi te d - 60
168,908 168,968

 
Al l  a bove  a mounts  a re  uns e cure d, i nte re s t fre e  a nd re pa ya bl e  on de ma nd. Tra ns a cAons  be twe e n the  Compa ny a nd i ts
s ubs i di a ri e s  a re  e l i mi na te d on cons ol i da ti on.
The  Di re ctors  ha ve  a gre e d tha t, whi l e  a mounts  due  to Group compa ni e s  a re  i ncl ude d i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s  due  wi thi n
one  ye a r a s  the y a re  te chni ca l l y pa ya bl e  on de ma nd, pa yme nt of the s e  a mounts  wi l l  not be  re qui re d unl e s s  the  compa ny i s  a bl e
to do s o.
Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d the  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Ltd £Ni l  (2024: £Ni l ) i n re s pe ct of a
ma na ge me nt cha rge . Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group Pl c ge ne ra te d re ve nue  of £16,900 (2024: £17,296) from  The
La che s i s  Se e d Fund Li mi te d Pa rtne rs hi p, a  Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne r tha t the  group ha ve  a n i nte re s t i n.
Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d £Ni l  (2024: £26,667) i n re s pe ct of a  ma na ge me nt cha rge .   The  ba l a nce  owe d
to Bra ve he a rt a t ye a r e nd wa s  £172,354 (2024: £164,354) a l though thi s  wa s  i mpa i re d to £Ni l  a t the  ye a r e nd.  Bra ve he a rt's
outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Ki rks ta l l  a re  unl i ke l y to  be  re pa i d i n  the  s hort-te rm  a nd the  va l ue  of the  Compa ny's  l oa n re ce i va bl e  i n
Ki rks ta l l  re ma i n wri tte n down to £Ni l .

Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d Pa ra yte c Li mi te d £Ni l  (2024: £13,333) i n re s pe ct of a  ma na ge me nt cha rge .  At the  ye a r e nd,
Pa ra yte c owe d Bra ve he a rt £1,530,200 (2024: £1,438,200)., Bra ve he a rt's  outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Pa ra yte c a re  unl i ke l y to  be  re pa i d i n
the  s hort-te rm a nd  the  va l ue  of the  Compa ny's  l oa n re ce i va bl e  i n Pa ra yte c re ma i n wri tte n down to £Ni l .
Duri ng the  ye a r, The  Ri di ngs  Ea l ry Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny cha rge d Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d £3,600 (2024: £3,600) i n re s pe ct of a
moni tori ng fe e . At the  ye a r e nd Ki rks ta l l  owe d £29,100 (2024: £25,500).
 
Non-Exe cuAve  Di re ctor, Qu Li , i s  a l s o a  Di re ctor a nd ma jor s ha re hol de r of Agi l e  Impa ct Ca pi ta l  Ltd. Duri ng the  ye a r Agi l e  Ca pi ta l
Impa ct Ltd cha rge d the  Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c a  tota l  of £42,403 (2024: £35,118) i n re s pe ct of s e rvi ce s  provi de d by Dr Li .
The  ba l a nce  outs ta ndi ng a t ye a r e nd wa s  £Ni l  (2024: £Ni l ). The re  we re  a ccrua l s  a t the  ye a r e nd from Agi l e  Impa ct Ca pi ta l  Ltd of
£4,167 (2024: £2,943).
                                                                                                                                                                                                             
21 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Group and Company)
The  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  compri s e  i nve s tme nts  de s i gna te d a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s , ca s h a nd
va ri ous  i te ms  s uch a s  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s , a nd tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s , a l l  of whi ch a ri s e  di re ctl y from i ts  norma l
ope ra ti ons . 
The  ca rryi ng va l ue s  of a l l  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r va l ue s  a t 31 Ma rch 2025 a nd
31 Ma rch 2024. The  Accounti ng Pol i ci e s  de s cri be d i n note  2 outl i ne s  how the  fi na nci a l  i ns trume nts  a re  me a s ure d.
An a na l ys i s  of the  s ta te me nt of fi na nci a l  pos i ti on, re l e va nt to a n a na l ys i s  of ri s k ma na ge me nt, i s  a s  fol l ows :
 

Financial instruments   

Designated at fair
value though profit

or loss

Loans and
receivables at

amortised cost

Non-financial assets
& financial assets

outside the scope of
IFRS 9 Total

£ £ £ £
GROUP
2025
Inve s tme nts 2,271,052 - - 2,271,052
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 19,251 33,671 52,922
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 63,671 - 63,671
 2,271,052 82,922 33,339 2,387,645

 
2024
Inve s tme nts 1,653,341 - - 1,653,341
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 20,071 85,636 105,707
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,742,315 - 1,742,315

1,653,341 1,762,386 85,636 3,501,363

 
COMPANY
2025
Inve s tme nts 2,270,996 - - 2,270,996
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 19,251 4,570 23,821
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 58,321 - 58,321

2,270,996 77,572 4,570 2,353,138

2024



2024
Inve s tme nts 1,653,323 - - 1,653,323
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 20,071 59,068 79,139
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,736,428 - 1,736,428
 1,653,323 1,756,499 59,068 3,468,890

 
 

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost
Financial liabilities at

fair value Total
£ £ £

GROUP
2025
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 58,141 - 58,141
Borrowi ngs - - -
 58,141 - 58,141
 
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 104,145 - 104,145
Borrowi ngs - - -
 104,145 - 104,145

 
COMPANY
2025
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 220,814 - 220,814

220,814 - 220,814

 
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 265,801 - 265,801

265,801 - 265,801

 
One  of the  Group's  pri nci pa l  obje cAve s  a nd pol i ci e s  i s  to a chi e ve  i ncome  a nd ca pi ta l  ga i ns  through i nve s tme nt i n e qui ty s ha re s
i n a  portfol i o of UK compa ni e s , the  ma jori ty of whi ch a re  unl i s te d.
Through i ts  norma l  ope ra Aons  the  Group i s  e xpos e d to a  numbe r of fina nci a l  ri s ks , na me l y cre di t ri s k, l i qui di ty ri s k a nd ma rke t
ri s k. The  Boa rd re vi e ws  a nd a gre e s  pol i ci e s  for ma na gi ng e a ch of the s e  ri s ks  a s  s umma ri s e d be l ow.
 
Credit risk
Cre di t ri s k a ri s e s  from the  e xpos ure  to the  ri s k of l os s  i f the  counte rpa rty fa i l s  to pe rform i ts  fina nci a l  obl i ga Aons  to the  Group.
The  Group's  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  pre domi na ntl y compri s e  i nve s tme nts  de s i gna te d a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s , a nd ca s h.  In
a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Inve s tme nt Pol i cy, the  Group s e e ks  to ma na ge  cre di t ri s k re l a te d to i ts  i nve s tme nts  through de ta i l e d
i nve s tme nt s e l e cAon cri te ri a  a nd di ve rs i fica Aon a nd by pl a ci ng l i mi ts  on i ndi vi dua l  i nve s tme nts . In a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Tre a s ury
Pol i cy, the  Group s e e ks  to mi Aga te  thi s  ri s k on  ca s h by pl a ci ng funds  onl y wi th ba nks  wi th hi gh cre di t-ra Angs  a s s i gne d by
i nte rna ti ona l  cre di t-ra ti ng a ge nci e s .
The  Group ha s  no s i gni fica nt conce ntra Aon of cre di t ri s k wi thi n a ny of i ts  othe r fina nci a l  a s s e ts .  Incl ude d wi thi n s uch othe r
fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  ba l a nce s  whi ch a re  pa s t due  a t the  re porAng da te  for whi ch the  Group ha s  not provi de d a s  the re  ha s  not
be e n a  s i gni fica nt cha nge  i n the i r cre di t qua l i ty a nd whi ch the  Group be l i e ve s  a re  ful l y re cove ra bl e .  The  a ge  profil e  of the  Group
a nd Compa ny's  othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  i s  a s  fol l ows :

 

Neither past
due nor

impaired
Less than 3

months
3 to 12

months
More than 1

year Total
£ £ £ £ £

GROUP
2025
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 6,039 - 1,800 25,500 33,339
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 19,583 - - - 19,583

 25,622 - 1,800 25,500 52,922

 
2024
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 8,199 - 1,800 21,900 31,899
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 73,808 - - - 73,808

 82,007 - 1,800 21,900 105,707

COMPANY
2025
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s - - - - -
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 20,290 - - - 20,290
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s 3,531 - - - 3,531
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - - - - -
 23,821 - - - 23,821

 
2024
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s - - - - -
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 73,808 - - - 73,808
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s 5,331 - - - 5,331



Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s 5,331 - - - 5,331
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - - - - -
 79,139 - - - 79,139

 

The  Group cons i de rs  i ts  e xpos ure  to cre di t ri s k i s  ne gl i gi bl e . The  Group's  ba nk ba l a nce  of £63,671 a t the  ye a r-e nd i s  he l d i n a  ba nk wi th a  hi gh
cre di t ra ti ng a nd the  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s  of £52,922 a re  cl os e l y moni tore d a s  pa rt of the  cre di t control  proce s s . 
 
Liquidity risk
Li qui di ty ri s k i s  the  ri s k tha t the  Group wi l l  not be  a bl e  to me e t i ts  fi na nci a l  obl i ga ti ons  a s  the y fa l l  due .
The  Group s e e ks  to ma na ge  i ts  l i qui di ty ri s k by hol di ng s uffici e nt ca s h re s e rve s  to me e t fore s e e a bl e  ne e ds , a nd by i nve s Ang ca s h a s s e ts  s a fe l y.
The  Group conAnuous l y moni tors  rol l i ng ca s h flow fore ca s ts  to e ns ure  s uffici e nt ca s h i s  a va i l a bl e  for a nAci pa te d ca s h re qui re me nts  a nd, i n
a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Tre a s ury Pol i cy, the  Group onl y i nve s ts  ca s h a s s e ts  wi th re puta bl e  counte rpa rti e s .
 
 
The  ma turi ty profi l e  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s  i s  a s  fol l ows :

 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

More than 1
year Total

£ £ £ £ £
GROUP
2025
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 56,533 982 626 - 58,141
 56,533 982 626 - 58,141

 
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 102,782 925 438 - 104,145
 102,782 925 438 - 104,145

 
COMPANY
2025
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 50,298 982 626 - 51,906
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s 168,908 - - - 168,908
 219,206 982 626 - 220,814

 
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 95,470 925 438 - 96,833
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s 168,968 - - - 168,968
 264,438 925 438 - 265,801

 
 
Market Risk
Ma rke t ri s k i s  the  ri s k tha t cha nge s  i n ma rke t condi Aons  s uch a s  e qui ty pri ce s , i nte re s t ra te s  a nd fore i gn e xcha nge  ra te s  wi l l  ha ve  a n a dve rs e
i mpa ct on the  Group's  fi na nci a l  pos i ti on or re s ul ts .
Equity price risk
The  Group i s  e xpos e d to e qui ty pri ce  ri s k due  to unce rta i nAe s  a bout future  va l ue s  of i ts  porOol i o of l i s te d a nd unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts . The
Group ma na ge s  s uch e qui ty pri ce  ri s k i n a  s i mi l a r wa y to cre di t ri s k through de ta i l e d i nve s tme nt s e l e cAon cri te ri a  a nd di ve rs i fica Aon a nd by
pl a ci ng l i mi ts  on i ndi vi dua l  i nve s tme nts . Inve s tme nts  a re  moni tore d ca re ful l y a nd the  Boa rd re vi e ws  the  portfol i o on a  re gul a r ba s i s .
 
 
Interest rate risk
The  Group fina nce s  i ts  ope ra Aons  through e qui ty fundi ng a s  oppos e d to de bt a nd the re fore  mi ni mi s e s  i ts  e xpos ure  to i nte re s t ra te  ri s ks .  The
Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng, wi th the  e xce pAon of l oa n note s  whi ch a Pra ct fixe d ra te  i nte re s t, a nd ca s h
ba l a nce s  whi ch a ttra ct va ri a bl e  i nte re s t ra te s  de te rmi ne d wi th re fe re nce  to the  ba nk i nte re s t ra te .

The  i nte re s t ra te  profil e  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  i s
a s  fol l ows :  

Fixed Rate Variable
Rate

Interest free Total

GROUP £ £ £ £
2025
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 2,271,052 2,271,052
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 63,671 - 63,671
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 52,922 52,922

- 63,671 2,323,974 2,387,645

Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 58,141 58,141
 - - 58,141 58,141

 
2024
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 1,653,341 1,653,341
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,742,315 - 1,742,315
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 105,707 105,707

- 1,742,315 1,759,048 3,501,363

Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 104,145 104,145



Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 104,145 104,145
 - - 104,145 104,145
 
Interest rate risk  

Fixed Rate Variable
Rate

Interest free Total

COMPANY £ £ £ £
2025
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 2,270,996 2,270,996
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 58,321 - 58,321
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 23,821 23,821

- 58,321 2,294,817 2,353,138

 

 
Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 220,814 220,814
 - - 220,814 220,814

 
2024
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 1,653,323 1,653,323
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,736,428 - 1,736,428
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 79,139 79,139

- 1,736,428 1,732,462 3,468,890
 
Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 265,801 265,801
 - - 265,801 265,801

 
It i s  e s Ama te d tha t the  ma xi mum e ffe ct of a  one  pe rce nta ge  poi nt (100 ba s i s  poi nts ) fa l l  i n i nte re s t ra te s  to whi ch the  Group i s  e xpos e d woul d be
a  de cre a s e  i n profi t be fore  ta x for the  twe l ve  months  to 31 Ma rch 2025 of £637 (2024: £17,423). For the  compa ny, thi s  woul d be  £583 (2024: £17,364).
Foreign currency risk
The  Group ha s  no ma te ri a l  e xpos ure  to fore i gn curre ncy ri s k.
 
22 Ultimate controlling party
The re  i s  no ul ti ma te  control l i ng pa rty.
 
23 Post balance sheet events
 In Ma y 2025, the  Compa ny pl a ce d 14,750,000 ne w ordi na ry s ha re s  a t a  pri ce  of 2p pe r s ha re  to ra i s e  £295,000 be fore  e xpe ns e s .
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